
City Council Meeting 
Agenda 
 
JANUARY 11, 2022 
6:00 p.m. 
City of Turlock Yosemite Room 
156 S. Broadway, Turlock, California 
 
 

NOTICE: CITY HALL HAS BEEN CLOSED TO THE PUBLIC DUE TO AN 
OUTBREAK OF THE COVID VIRUS.  

 
TO AVOID SPREAD OF THE COVID VIRUS, THIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING WILL BE HELD IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 54953(e) AND OTHER PROVISIONS OF 

THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT (CALIFORNIA GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 54950, ET SEQ.), AS 
WELL AS OTHER RELEVANT LAWS SUCH AS THE FEDERAL AMERICANS WITH 

DISABILITIES ACT. 
 

THIS MEETING WILL NOT BE PHYSICALLY OPEN TO THE PUBLIC.  
 

TO PARTICIPATE IN OR WATCH THIS MEETING, YOU MUST DO SO USING ONE OF THE 
FOLLOWING METHODS: 

 
TO JOIN ON YOUR COMPUTER OR SMART PHONE/TABLET: 

 
CLICK ON THIS MEETING LINK: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84924629186 

 
OR 

 
GO TO THE ZOOM WEBSITE: https://zoom.us/join AND ENTER 

WEBINAR ID NUMBER: 849 2462 9186 
 
 

TO JOIN BY TELEPHONE*: DIAL 669-900-6833 AND ENTER 
WEBINAR ID NUMBER: 849 2462 9186 

*participant’s phone number will be public* 
 

 

PLEASE NOTE THAT DUE TO TECHNICAL UPGRADES THAT ARE NOT COMPLETE, THIS 
MEETING WILL NOT BE STREAMED ON THE CITY OF TURLOCK WEBSITE AND WILL NOT BE 

BROADCAST ON SPECTRUM CHANNEL 2.   
 

 
 

Mayor 
Amy Bublak 

 Interim City Manager 
 Council Members Sarah Tamey Eddy 
Nicole Larson Rebecka Monez  Interim City Clerk 
Andrew Nosrati Pam Franco  Kellie E. Weaver 
     Vice Mayor  City Attorney 
 George A. Petrulakis 
 
 
 

 



Council Agenda 
1/11/22 
Page 2 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0. A. CALL TO ORDER 
 

B. SALUTE TO THE FLAG 
 

C. ROLL CALL 
 

D. DECLARATION OF CONFLICTS 
 
 

1. CLOSED SESSION: 
 

The Closed Session item(s) for this meeting have been agendized and will be heard toward the 
latter part of the meeting. 

 
 
2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA AS POSTED OR AMENDED 

This is the time for the City Council to remove items from the agenda or to change the order of the agenda.  Matters 
may be taken up out of order of the established agenda by a four-fifths vote of the City Council. 

 
3. PROCLAMATIONS, RECOGNITIONS, APPOINTMENTS, ANNOUNCEMENTS,  

PRESENTATIONS, AND BRIEFINGS: 
 

A. Presentation:   Self-Help Enterprises (Ramos) 
 
B. Appointment: Planning Commission 
 
C. Appointment: Parks, Arts, and Recreation Commission 
 
D. Appointment: CDBG Grant Selection Committee (Community Members) 

 
 
 
 

 

 

SPEAKER CARDS:  To accommodate those wishing to address the Council and allow for staff follow-up, speaker cards are available 
for any agendized topic or any other topic delivered under Public Comment.  Please fill out and provide the Comment Card to the City 
Clerk or Police Officer.  
 
NOTICE REGARDING NON-ENGLISH SPEAKERS:  The Turlock City Council meetings are conducted in English and translation to 
other languages is not provided.  Please make arrangements for an interpreter if necessary. 
 
EQUAL ACCESS POLICY:  If you have a disability which affects your access to public facilities or services, please contact the City 
Clerk’s Office at (209) 668-5540.  The City is committed to taking all reasonable measures to provide access to its facilities and 
services.  Please allow sufficient time for the City to process and respond to your request. 
 
NOTICE:  Pursuant to California Government Code Section 54954.3, any member of the public may directly address the City Council 
on any item appearing on the agenda, including Consent Calendar and Public Hearing items, before or during the City Council’s 
consideration of the item.  Members of the public will be allowed five (5) minutes for comments. 
 
AGENDA PACKETS:  Prior to the City Council meeting, a complete Agenda Packet is available for review on the City’s website at 
www.cityofturlock.org and in the City Clerk’s Office at 156 S. Broadway, Suite 230, Turlock, during normal business hours.  Materials 
related to an item on this Agenda submitted to the Council after distribution of the Agenda Packet are also available for public 
inspection in the City Clerk’s Office.  Such documents may be available on the City’s website subject to staff’s ability to post the 
documents before the meeting. 



Council Agenda 
1/11/22 
Page 3 

 

 

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
Pursuant to California Government Code Section 54954.3(a), this is the time set aside for members of the public to 
directly address the City Council on any item of interest to the public that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 
City Council and to address the Council on any item on tonight’s agenda, including Consent Calendar items. You will 
be allowed five (5) minutes for your comments.  If you wish to speak regarding an item on the agenda, you may be 
asked to defer your remarks until the Council addresses the matter. 

 
Pursuant to California Government Code Section 54954.2(a)(3), no action or discussion may be undertaken on any 
item not appearing on the posted agenda, except that the City Council, or its staff, may briefly respond to comments 
or questions from members of the public, provide a reference to staff or other resources for factual information, or 
direct staff to place the issue on a future agenda. 

 
 
5. MOTION WAIVING READING OF ALL ORDINANCES ON THE AGENDA, EXCEPT BY TITLE 
 
 
6. CONSENT CALENDAR: 
 Information concerning the consent items listed hereinbelow has been forwarded to each Councilmember prior to this 

meeting for study.  Unless the Mayor, a Councilmember or member of the audience has questions concerning the 
Consent Calendar, the items are approved at one time by the Council.  The action taken by the Council in approving 
the consent items is set forth in the explanation of the individual items. 

 
A. Resolution:  Accepting Monthly Demands of 9/30/21 in the amount of $16,648,081.89; 

Weekly Demands of 12/2/21 in the amount of $1,015,711.73; Weekly Demands of 
12/9/21 in the amount of $455,489.66; Weekly Demands of 12/16/21 in the amount of 
$1,296,648.79; Weekly Demands of 12/23/21 in the amount of $1,522,703.39 

B. Motion:  Accepting Minutes of the Regular Meeting of December 14, 2021 
C. Motion: Approving of Contract Change Order No. 1 (Final) in the decreased amount of 

$6,679 (Non-General Fund – Fund 215) for City Project No. 18-53 “Intersection 
Improvements at Tully Rd and Tuolumne Rd” bringing the contract total to $467,801 
Motion:  Accepting improvements for City Project No. 18-54 “Intersection Improvements 
at Tully Rd and Tuolumne Rd” and authorizing the Acting City Engineer to file a Notice of 
Completion 

D. Motion:  Approving Amendment No. 1 to the Agreement between the City of Turlock and 
Provost & Pritchard Engineering Group for Design Services of the Drinking Water 
Chlorination Project to include an additional scope of work for continuation of 
construction administration and construction management, and increasing the 
compensation by $195,000, for a total not-to-exceed amount of $836,300 

E. Resolution:  Approving the Tentative Agreement updating the Memorandum of 
Understanding (“MOU”) between the City of Turlock and Turlock Management 
Association – Public Safety covering the period of July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2022 

F. Resolution:  Approving a salary range adjustment for the job classification of Executive 
Administrative Assistant/Municipal Services from Confidential salary range 27.4 to range 
29.2, effective January 11, 2022 
Motion:  Approving update of the job description for Executive Administrative 
Assistant/Municipal Services 

G. Resolution:  Reinstating the Executive Assistant to the City Manager/City Clerk position 
at salary range 35.1 and approving modifications to the job description, effective January 
11, 2022 
Resolution:  Approving an amendment to the salary schedule of the existing 
management schedule of benefits and policies adopted by Resolution No. 2021-131 
dated July 13, 2021 to include all approved management salaries 

H. Resolution: Reaffirming the Director of Emergency Services Proclamation of Existence 
of a Local Emergency in response to COVID-19 



Council Agenda 
1/11/22 
Page 4 

 

 

7. FINAL READINGS:   
 
A. Request to amend the Zoning Map of the City of Turlock, California, attached to Title 9 of 

the Turlock Municipal Code [Rezone 2021-01 Planned Development 280 (Balisha 
Ranch)].  (Quintero) 

 
Recommended Action: 
Ordinance:  Amending the Zoning Map of the City of Turlock, California, attached to Title 
9 of the Turlock Municipal Code [Rezone 2021-01 Planned Development 280 (Balisha 
Ranch)] 
 
Resolution:  Establishing Conditions of Approval for Planned Development 280 (Balisha 
Ranch) 
 

B. Request to repeal Turlock Municipal Code Title 6, Chapter 3, regarding Garbage, 
Rubbish, and Organic Refuse in its entirety, and add a new Title 6, Chapter 3, regarding 
Garbage, Recyclable Materials, and Organic Waste to incorporate changes related to 
upcoming SB 1383 state mandated requirements.   (Madden) 

 
Recommended Action: 
Ordinance: Repealing Turlock Municipal Code Title 6, Chapter 3, regarding Garbage, 
Rubbish, and Organic Refuse in its entirety, and adding a new Title 6, Chapter 3, 
regarding Garbage, Recyclable Materials, and Organic Waste to incorporate changes 
related to upcoming SB 1383 state mandated requirements 

 
 

8. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 

A. This item was continued from the December 14, 2021, City Council meeting.  
Request to deny the appeal and affirm the Planning Commission decision Denying 
Variance 2021-01 (Perfect Union) at 2500 N. Golden State Boulevard.  (Quintero) 

 
Recommended Action: 

 Resolution:  Denying the appeal and affirming the Planning Commission decision 
Denying Variance 2021-01 (Perfect Union) at 2500 N. Golden State Boulevard 
 
 

9. ACTION ITEMS: 
 

A. Request to authorize City Manager to execute service agreement with Performance on 
Purpose, LLC for City Mental Wellbeing Program by performing training and coaching 
AND approving a Service Agreement between the City of Turlock and Performance on 
Purpose, LLC for Mental Wellbeing Program and appropriating $417,994 from Fund 119 
(American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA)) Unassigned Reserve to Expense Account Number 
119-10-118.43060_046 “Contract Services Mental Wellbeing”.  (Moreno) 

 
Recommended Action: 
Motion:  Authorize Interim City Manager to execute service agreement with Performance 
on Purpose, LLC for City Mental Wellbeing Program by performing training and coaching 
 
 



Council Agenda 
1/11/22 
Page 5 

 

 

Resolution:  Approving a Service Agreement between the City of Turlock and 
Performance on Purpose, LLC for Mental Wellbeing Program and appropriating 
$417,994 from Fund 119 [American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA)] Unassigned Reserve to 
Expense Account Number 119-10-188.43060_046 “Contract Services Mental Wellbeing” 
 

B. Request to accept and consent to the Interim City Manager’s appointment of Jason 
Hedden to the position of Chief of Police for the City of Turlock Police Department, 
effective February 16, 2022, and approving an Employment Agreement.  (Eddy) 

 
Recommended Action: 
Resolution: Accepting and consenting to the Interim City Manager’s appointment of 
Jason Hedden to the position of Chief of Police for the City of Turlock Police 
Department, effective February 16, 2022, and approving an Employment Agreement 
 

 
10. CITY MANAGER REPORTS/UPDATES 

City Manager reports/updates are provided for informational purposes only and no action or discussion may be 
undertaken.  The City Manager may direct department heads to provide reports/updates at the City Manager’s 
request. 
 

A. City Manager (Eddy) 
1. Administration Update 

 
 
11. COUNCIL ITEMS FOR FUTURE CONSIDERATION 

Requests for Council items for future consideration will be scheduled in accordance with the City of Turlock Elected 
and Appointed Officials’ Handbook (Resolution No. 2019-094), unless otherwise specified by the Mayor or a majority 
of the Council. 
 
 

12. AD HOC COMMITTEE REPORTS:  None  
 
 
13. COUNCILMEMBER QUESTIONS, COMMENTS, AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

Councilmembers may ask questions, provide comments, and make brief announcements on notable topics of 
interest.  The Brown Act does not allow discussion or action by the legislative body. 

 
 
14. CLOSED SESSION: 
 

A. Conference with Legal Counsel – Anticipated Litigation, Cal. Gov’t Code §54956.9(d)(2) 
“For the purposes of this section, litigation shall be considered pending when any of the 
following circumstances exist...  A point has been reached where, in the opinion of the 
legislative body of the local agency on the advice of its legal counsel, based on existing facts 
and circumstances, there is a significant exposure to litigation against the local agency.” 
Potential Case(s):  (2 cases) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Council Agenda 
1/11/22 
Page 6 

 

 

B. Liability Claims, Cal. Gov’t Code §54956.95 
“For the purposes of [Section 54956.9], ‘existing facts and circumstances’ shall consist only 
of one of the following: The receipt of a claim pursuant to the Government Claims Act 
(Division 3.6 (commencing with Section 810) of Title 1 of the Government Code) or some  
other written communication from a potential plaintiff threatening litigation, which claim or 
communication shall be available for public inspection pursuant to Section 54957.5.” 
Claimant:  Miguel Garcia 
Agency Claimed Against:  City of Turlock 
 

C. Liability Claims, Cal. Gov’t Code §54956.95 
“For the purposes of [Section 54956.9], ‘existing facts and circumstances’ shall consist only 
of one of the following: The receipt of a claim pursuant to the Government Claims Act 
(Division 3.6 (commencing with Section 810) of Title 1 of the Government Code) or some 
other written communication from a potential plaintiff threatening litigation, which claim or 
communication shall be available for public inspection pursuant to Section 54957.5.” 
Claimant:  Jammu Petro Food Inc, RJ Singh 
Agency Claimed Against:  City of Turlock 

 
D. Liability Claims, Cal. Gov’t Code §54956.95 

“For the purposes of [Section 54956.9], ‘existing facts and circumstances’ shall consist only 
of one of the following: The receipt of a claim pursuant to the Government Claims Act 
(Division 3.6 (commencing with Section 810) of Title 1 of the Government Code) or some 
other written communication from a potential plaintiff threatening litigation, which claim or 
communication shall be available for public inspection pursuant to Section 54957.5.” 
Claimant:  Jammu Petro Food Inc, RJ Singh 
Agency Claimed Against:  City of Turlock 
 

 
15. REPORTS FROM CLOSED SESSION 
 
 
16. ADJOURNMENT 



1/11/22 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

Number of Vacancies = 2 
 

Appoint Two (2) Commissioners to Term(s) Expiring on 12/31/25 
 

 
Three (3) Applicants: 
 
Matthew Davis (Seeking Reappointment) Mark Reese 

Barbara Jensen (Being appointed to the Parks, Arts & Recreation Commission) 

 
Applications for the above-mentioned applicants can be viewed in the Office of the City Clerk. 

 
 
MAYOR BUBLAK’S RECOMMENDED APPOINTMENTS: 
 
Reappoint Matthew Davis to the Planning Commission for a term expiring on 12/31/25. 
 
Appoint Mark Reese to the Planning Commission for a term expiring on 12/31/25. 
  

KWeaver
Text Box
3B



1/11/22 

PARKS, ARTS & RECREATION COMMISSION 

 
Number of Vacancies = 3 

 
Appoint Two (2) Commissioners to Term(s) Expiring on 12/31/24 

 
 
Two (2) Applicants: 
 
Keristofer Seryani (Seeking Reappointment) Barbara Jensen 

Mark Reese (Being appointed to Planning Commission) 

 
Applications for the above-mentioned applicants can be viewed in the Office of the City Clerk. 

 
 
MAYOR BUBLAK’S RECOMMENDED APPOINTMENTS: 
 
Reappoint Keristofer Seryani to the Parks, Arts & Recreation Commission for a term 
expiring on 12/31/24. 
 
Appoint Barbara Jensen to the Parks, Arts & Recreation Commission for a term expiring 
12/31/24. 
 
An appointment for the remaining vacancy (term expiring on 12/31/23) will be 
considered as future applications are received.   

KWeaver
Text Box
3C



1/11/22 

CDBG GRANT SELECTION COMMITTEE 
 

Appoint Community Members to Term(s) Expiring on 12/31/22 
 
 
Four (4) Applicants: 
 

Abe Rojas Allison Jeffery 

Beverly Spielman Kim A. Castro 

Dan Navarra  

 
Applications for the above-mentioned applicants can be viewed in the Office of the City Clerk. 

 
 

The CDBG Grant Selection Committee screens applications from 

community groups seeking CDBG grant funds and selects which 

applicants will receive funding each year.  It is estimated the 

Committee will fund approximately $50,000 in grants this year. 

 
 
MAYOR BUBLAK’S RECOMMENDED APPOINTMENTS: 
 
Appoint Abe Rojas, Allison Jeffery, Beverly Spielman, Kim Castro, and Dan Navarra to the 
CDBG Grant Selection Committee for terms expiring on 12/31/22. 

KWeaver
Text Box
3D



KWeaver
Text Box
6A

















































































































DECEMBER 14, 2021  DRAFT MINUTES 
6:02 p.m.  Regular Meeting 
City of Turlock Yosemite Room Turlock City Council 
156 S. Broadway, Turlock, California 
 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER 
 

B. SALUTE TO THE FLAG 
 

C. ROLL CALL: 
 

Councilmember 
Larson 

Councilmember 
Nosrati 

Councilmember 
Franco 

Councilmember 
Monez 

Mayor 
Bublak 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 
PRESENT: Councilmembers Nicole Larson, Andrew Nosrati, Pam Franco, Rebecka 

Monez and Mayor Amy Bublak  
ABSENT:  None 

 
D. DECLARATION OF CONFLICTS 

 
City Attorney Petrulakis declared a conflict on Consent Item 6T regarding the agreement 
with Petrulakis Law & Advocacy, APC law firm. 

 
1. CLOSED SESSION: 
 

The Closed Session item(s) for this meeting have been agendized and will be heard toward the 
latter part of the meeting. 

 
 
2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA AS POSTED OR AMENDED 

This is the time for the City Council to remove items from the agenda or to change the order of the agenda.  Matters 
may be taken up out of order of the established agenda by a four-fifths vote of the City Council. 

 
Action: Motion by Councilmember Monez, seconded by Councilmember Franco, 

approving the agenda.  Motion carried 5/0 by the following vote: 
 

Councilmember 
Larson 

Councilmember 
Nosrati 

Councilmember 
Franco 

Councilmember 
Monez 

Mayor 
Bublak 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 
 

3. PROCLAMATIONS, RECOGNITIONS, APPOINTMENTS, ANNOUNCEMENTS,  
PRESENTATIONS, AND BRIEFINGS: 

 
1. Recognition: Active Military Banner Retirement  

 
Parks, Recreation, and Public Facilities Director Allison Van Guilder and 
part-time Recreation Worker Amber Traini oversaw the retirement of 
Active Military Banners. 
 
 
 

KWeaver
Text Box
6B



 DRAFT MINUTES 

  Regular Meeting 
 December 14, 2021 
 Page 2 

 

2. Recognition:   Employee of the Month, October 2021, Public Facilities Maintenance Team 
Leader, Wayne Rogers 
 
 
Mayor Bublak read a Proclamation honoring Employee of the Month, Public 
Facilities Maintenance Team Leader, Wayne Rogers.  Public Facilities 
Maintenance Team Leader Wayne Rogers thanked his coworkers and 
office staff for their support. 
 

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
The following members of the public spoke: 

 
Nick Paiz 
Milt Trieweiler 
Jacob Linderman 
Cathy Doo 
Lanny Isreal 
Nigel Triplett 
Gil Esquer 

 
5. MOTION WAIVING READING OF ALL ORDINANCES ON THE AGENDA, EXCEPT BY TITLE 

 
 None 
 
6. CONSENT CALENDAR: 
 

Mayor Bublak announced that Consent Calendar Item(s) 6F, 6S, 6T, would be removed for 
separate consideration.   

 
Action: Motion by Councilmember Monez, seconded by Councilmember Franco, 

adopting the amended consent calendar.  Motion carried 5/0 by the 
following vote: 

 
Councilmember 

Larson 
Councilmember 

Nosrati 
Councilmember 

Franco 
Councilmember 

Monez 
Mayor 
Bublak 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 
A. Resolution No. 2021-234:  Accepting Weekly Demands of 10/29/21 in the amount of 

$761,628.28; Weekly Demands of 11/5/21 in the amount of $842,500.52; Weekly 
Demands of 11/12/21 in the amount of $1,756,829.09; Weekly Demands of 11/19/21 in 
the amount of $2,102,246.71 

B. Motion:  Accepting Minutes of the Special Meeting of November 8, 2021 
Motion:  Accepting Minutes of the Regular Meeting of November 9, 2021 

C. Resolution No. 2021-235: Initiating proceedings for the formation of the Landscaping and 
Lighting Assessment District and the Street Maintenance Benefit Assessment Area for 
3130 and 3200 Fulkerth Road, Stanislaus County APNs 089-019-017 and 089-019-001 
and directing the Acting City Engineer to act as the Engineer of Work and produce an 
Engineer’s Report which details the annual costs to the development 



 DRAFT MINUTES 

  Regular Meeting 
 December 14, 2021 
 Page 3 

 

D. Resolution No. 2021-236: Initiating proceedings for the formation of the PM 21-01 Dutch 
Bros (Development Project No. 21-005) Landscaping and Lighting Assessment District 
and the Street Maintenance Benefit Assessment Area and directing the Acting City 
Engineer to act as the Engineer of Work and produce an Engineer’s Report which details 
the annual costs to the development 

E. Resolution No. 2021-237: Initiating proceedings for the formation of the Starbucks 
(Development Project No. 21-028) Landscaping and Lighting Assessment District and the 
Street Maintenance Benefit Assessment Area and directing the Acting City Engineer to 
act as the Engineer of Work and produce an Engineer’s Report which details the annual 
costs to the development 

F. Removed for separate consideration. 
G. Motion: Approving Amendment No. 1 of Agreement 2021-084, between the City of Turlock 

and Central Valley Concrete, to absorb Agreement 2021-086, for a total not-to-exceed 
amount of $120,000 (non-general fund) over the two-year term agreement 

H. Motion: Awarding RFB No. 11-2021 and approving an Agreement with Univar Solutions 
USA Inc. for Sodium Bisulfite for the Turlock Regional Water Quality Control Facility, in an 
annual compensation not to exceed $150,000 (non-general fund) for the period December 
14, 2021 through June 30, 2022, and an annual amount not to exceed $300,000 (non-
general fund) over the remaining three (3) year term of the Agreement, if all renewal 
periods are exercised 

I. Motion: Awarding RFB No. 13-2021 and approving an Agreement with Univar Solutions 
USA Inc. for Sodium Hypochlorite for the Turlock Regional Water Quality Control Facility 
and the City’s Water System, in an amount not to exceed $250,000 (non-general fund) for 
the period December 14, 2021 through June 30, 2022, and an annual amount not to 
exceed $500,000 (non-general fund) over the remaining three (3) year term of the 
Agreement, if all renewal periods are exercised 
Resolution No. 2021-238: Appropriating $50,000 to account number 410-51-
530.44005_006 “Chemicals Chlorine” to be funded from Fund 410 Water Quality Control 
unallocated reserves to provide necessary funding for City Contract No. 2022-025 

J. Motion: Approving Amendment No. 2 to the Agreement between the City of Turlock and 
Provost & Pritchard Engineering Group for Design, Engineering Services During 
Construction, & Construction Management for Wellhead Treatment Installation to include 
additional scope of work for continuation of construction administration, construction 
management, and start-up services and training videos for staff; and increasing the 
compensation by $139,200, for a total not-to-exceed amount of $1,226,880 

K. Motion: Approving Amendment No. 1 to an Agreement with Bay City Boiler & Engineering 
Co. for Boiler Services for the Municipal Services Department, increasing compensation 
by $10,000 (Non-General Fund), for a total not-to-exceed amount of $35,000 

L. Resolution No. 2021-239: Accepting donations made to the City of Turlock Parks, 
Recreation, and Public Facilities Department from various donors, January 2021 through 
September 2021, in the amount of $3,077.48 (monetary donations) in account number 
270-61-635-399.37200_000 “Donations General,” $2,000 (monetary donations), in 
account number 110-61-622-002.35720 “Christmas Parade – Revenue,” and $500 
(monetary donations) in account number 266-20-255-351.37200_005 “National Night 
Out,” to fund/aid a variety of Parks, Recreation, and Public Facilities Department 
programs, scholarships, and activities 

 
 
 



 DRAFT MINUTES 

  Regular Meeting 
 December 14, 2021 
 Page 4 

 
M. Resolution No. 2021-240: Approving the purchase of one (1) 2022-23 Mack MD642R 

with Valew 2000 Gal. Water Tank for the Parks, Recreation and Public Facilities 
Department from Holt of California, in an amount not to exceed $137,000 from account 
number 506-00-000-231.51020 (Equipment Replacement), through Sourcewell Contract 
#032119-CAT and appropriating $28,100 to account number 506-00-000-231.51020 
(Equipment Replacement) to be funded from Fund 506 Unassigned Reserve for the 
vehicle purchase 
Resolution No. 2021-241: Approving the purchase of one (1) 2021 Ford F-750 Chassis 
with PB Loader Support Body, 10 Ft 5-7 Yard Dump Bed for the Parks, Recreation and 
Public Facilities Department from PB Loader Corporation, in an amount not to exceed 
$149,500 from account number 219-40-428.51105 (Vehicle), through Sourcewell Contract 
#052417-PBL and appropriating $11,500 to account number 219-40-428.51105 (Vehicle) 
to be funded from Fund 506 Unassigned Reserve for the vehicle purchase 
Resolution No. 2021-242: Approving the purchase of one (1) 2021 Ford F-750 Chassis 
with PB Loader Support Body, 10 Ft 5-7 Yard Dump Bed for the Parks, Recreation and 
Public Facilities Department from PB Loader Corporation, in an amount not to exceed 
$149,500 from account number 506-00-000-231.51020 (Equipment Replacement), 
through Sourcewell Contract #052417-PBL and appropriating $11,500 to account number 
506-00-000-231.51020 (Equipment Replacement) to be funded from Fund 506 
Unassigned Reserve for the vehicle purchase 

N. Resolution No. 2021-243: Rescinding Resolution No. 2020-072 and adopting a new 
resolution designating the authorized signatures for the City of Turlock bank accounts with 
Westamerica Bank 

O. Resolution No. 2021-244: Adopting the 2022 City Council meeting schedule in 
accordance with Turlock Municipal Code Section 2-1-02 

P. Resolution No. 2021-245: Approving an amendment to the Salary Schedule of the 
existing Confidential Schedule of Benefits and Policies adopted by Resolution No. 2021-
228, dated November 9, 2021, to include all approved confidential salaries 

Q. Resolution No. 2021-246: Appropriating $812,488 to Fiscal Year 2021-2022 salary and 
benefit accounts from each respective fund’s unassigned reserves as the result of a 
Tentative Agreement between the City of Turlock (“City”) and the Turlock City Employees 
Association (“TCEA”) covering the period of July 1, 2020 through June 30, 2024 and 
updating the Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) between the City and TCEA   

R. Resolution No. 2021-247: Reaffirming the Director of Emergency Services Proclamation 
of Existence of a Local Emergency in response to COVID-19 

S. Removed for separate consideration. 
T. Removed for separate consideration. 

 
The following items were removed from the Consent Calendar for separate consideration: 
 

6F Awarding bid and approving an Agreement in the amount of $1,824,868 (Fund 412 and 
Fund 421) with Rolfe Construction, Inc., of Atwater, California, for City Project No. 20-013 
“Water and Sewer Main Extensions – N Golden State Blvd” AND Appropriating $237,743 
to account number 421-52-552.51270 “Construction Project” to be funded from Fund 421 
“Water Line Construction” unallocated reserves to provide the funding needed for City 
Project No. 20-013 “Water and Sewer Main Extensions – N Golden State Blvd” 

 
Council and Staff discussion included continuing the item to allow staff to further evaluate 
the legal risks with this contract. 

 



 DRAFT MINUTES 

  Regular Meeting 
 December 14, 2021 
 Page 5 

 
 Mayor Bublak opened public comment. 
 
 The following members of the public spoke: 
 

Milt Treiweiler 
 
Mayor Bublak closed public comment. 
 
Action: Motion by Councilmember Larson, seconded by Councilmember Monez, to 

continue to the January 11, 2022 Regular City Council meeting for the 
motion awarding bid and approving an agreement in the amount of 
$1,824,868 (Fund 412 and Fund 421) with Rolfe Construction, Inc., of 
Atwater, California, for City Project No. 20-013 “Water and Sewer Main 
Extensions – N Golden State Blvd”. Appropriating $237,743 to account 
number 421-52-552.51270 “Construction Project” to be funded from Fund 
421 “Water Line Construction” unallocated reserves to provide the funding 
needed for City Project No. 20-013 “Water and Sewer Main Extensions – 
N Golden State Blvd”.  Motion carried 5/0 by the following vote: 

 
Councilmember 

Larson 
Councilmember 

Nosrati 
Councilmember 

Franco 
Councilmember 

Monez 
Mayor 
Bublak 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 
 
6S Reaffirming the Proclamation of a Local Emergency by Interim City Manager Sarah Tamey 

Eddy (Director of Emergency Services) in Response to a continuing Unsheltered 
Homeless Crisis (UHC) within the City of Turlock and Confirming Rules and Regulations 
No. 1 Made and Issued by Interim City Manager Sarah Tamey Eddy (Director of 
Emergency Services) 

 
 Council and staff discussion included: 
 

Councilmember Nosrati noted he would vote no on this matter until it is treated as an 
emergency. 

 
 Mayor Bublak opened public comment.  
 

The following members of the public spoke: 
 
Lanny Isreal 
 
Mayor Bublak closed public comment. 

 
Action: Resolution No. 2021-248: Reaffirming the Proclamation of a Local 

Emergency by Interim City Manager Sarah Tamey Eddy (Director of 
Emergency Services) in Response to a continuing Unsheltered Homeless 
Crisis (UHC) within the City of Turlock and Confirming Rules and 
Regulations No. 1 Made and Issued by Interim City Manager Sarah Tamey 
Eddy (Director of Emergency Services) was introduced by Councilmember 
Monez, seconded by Councilmember Franco, and carried 5/0 by the 
following vote: 

 
Councilmember 

Larson 
Councilmember 

Nosrati 
Councilmember 

Franco 
Councilmember 

Monez 
Mayor 
Bublak 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 



 DRAFT MINUTES 

  Regular Meeting 
 December 14, 2021 
 Page 6 

 

 
City Attorney Petrulakis recused himself from participating in Consent Calendar Item 6T due to 
having financial interest in the proposed agreement and stepped down from the dais at 7:02 pm 
 
6T Motion: Approving an Agreement between the City of Turlock and Petrulakis Law & 

Advocacy, APC law firm regarding the providing of City Attorney Services. 
 
 Councilmember Nosrati said that there are so many other qualified firms that the City could 

look into for legal services. 
 
 Mayor Bublak opened public comment.  No one spoke.  Mayor Bublak closed public 

comment. 
 

Action: Approving an Agreement between the City of Turlock and Petrulakis Law 
& Advocacy, APC law firm regarding the providing of City Attorney Services 
was introduced by Councilmember Monez, seconded by Councilmember 
Franco, and carried 4/1 by the following vote: 

 
Councilmember 

Larson 
Councilmember 

Nosrati 
Councilmember 

Franco 
Councilmember 

Monez 
Mayor 
Bublak 

Yes No Yes Yes Yes 

 
City Attorney Petrulakis returned to the dais at 7:05 pm 
 

7. FINAL READINGS:   
 
A. The final reading for this Ordinance and the adoption of the Resolution Establishing 

Conditions of Approval was scheduled to be heard at tonight’s meeting.  Staff is 
requesting the City Council consider continuing the matter and setting the final 
reading of the Ordinance and adoption of the Resolution Establishing Conditions 
of Approval for the January 11, 2022, City Council meeting.   

 
 Deputy Development Services Director Katie Quintero provided information about the 

request for continuance of this item.   
 

Mayor Bublak opened the public hearing. No one spoke. Mayor Bublak closed the public 
hearing. 
 
Action: Motion by Councilmember Franco, seconded by Councilmember Monez, 

continuing Amending the Zoning Map of the City of Turlock, California, 
attached to Title 9 of the Turlock Municipal Code [Rezone 2021-01 Planned 
Development 280 (Balisha Ranch)] AND Establishing Conditions of 
Approval for Planned Development 280 (Balisha Ranch) to the January 11, 
2022 Regular City Council Meeting.  Motion carried 5/0 by the following 
vote: 

 
Councilmember 

Larson 
Councilmember 

Nosrati 
Councilmember 

Franco 
Councilmember 

Monez 
Mayor 
Bublak 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 



 DRAFT MINUTES 

  Regular Meeting 
 December 14, 2021 
 Page 7 

 

 
8. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 

A. This item was continued from the October 26, 2021, City Council meeting.  Staff is 
requesting the City Council consider continuing the matter and setting the public 
hearing for the January 11, 2022, City Council meeting.  
  

 Deputy Development Services Director Katie Quintero provided information about the 
request for continuance of this item.   

 
Mayor Bublak opened the public hearing. 
 
The following members of the public spoke. 
 
Gil Esquer 
 
Mayor Bublak closed the public hearing. 
 
Action: Motion by Councilmember Franco, seconded by Councilmember Monez, 

Continuing Denying the appeal and affirming the Planning Commission 
decision Denying Variance 2021-01 (Perfect Union) at 2500 N. Golden State 
Boulevard to the January 11, 2022 Regular City Council Meeting.  Motion 
carried 5/0 by the following vote: 

 
Councilmember 

Larson 
Councilmember 

Nosrati 
Councilmember 

Franco 
Councilmember 

Monez 
Mayor 
Bublak 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 
 

B. Deputy Development Services Director/Planning Manager Katie Quintero presented the 
staff report on the request for the City Clerk to confirm: a) Proof of Publication of Notice of 
Public Hearing; b) Signed Waiver and Consent; c) Completed and Signed Ballot and d) 
Signed Certificate of Clerk Regarding Receipt of Property Owner Waiver and Consent 
Form and Ballot Declaring Election Results (Project Planner to prompt and facilitate these 
steps) AND Mayor and City Council conduct public hearing confirming that no protests 
have been received – close hearing and adopt the two resolutions below AND Calling a 
Special, Mailed-Ballot Election respecting Proposed Annexation Number 32 to existing 
Community Facilities District Number 2 (Services Mitigation) AND Declaring the results of 
Mailed-Ballot Election respecting Proposed Annexation Number 32 to Community 
Facilities District Number 2 (Services Mitigation) and ordering annexation.   
 
Deputy City Clerk Lisa Schimmelfennig confirmed a) Proof of Publication of the Notice of 
Public Hearing; b) Signed Waiver and Consent form; c) Completed and Signed Ballot, 
noting the ballot received from the property owner authorized the annexation of the 
property to the existing Community Facilities District No. 2; and d) Signed Certificate of 
Clerk Regarding Receipt of Property Owner Waiver and Consent Form and the Ballot 
Declaring Election Results. 

 
Mayor Bublak opened the public hearing. No one spoke. Mayor Bublak closed the public 
hearing. 



 DRAFT MINUTES 

  Regular Meeting 
 December 14, 2021 
 Page 8 

 

 
Action: Confirmation:  City Clerk confirms: a) Proof of Publication of Notice of 

Public Hearing; b) Signed Waiver and Consent; c) Completed and Signed 
Ballot and d) Signed Certificate of Clerk Regarding Receipt of Property 
Owner Waiver and Consent Form and Ballot Declaring Election Results  

 
Public Hearing:  Mayor and City Council conduct public hearing confirming 
that no protests have been received. 
 
Resolution No. 2021-249:  Calling a Special, Mailed-Ballot Election 
respecting Proposed Annexation Number 32 to existing Community 
Facilities District Number 2 (Services Mitigation) was introduced by 
Councilmember Monez, seconded by Councilmember Franco, and carried 
5/0 by the following vote: 

 
Councilmember 

Larson 
Councilmember 

Nosrati 
Councilmember 

Franco 
Councilmember 

Monez 
Mayor 
Bublak 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 
Resolution No. 2021-250:  Declaring the results of Mailed-Ballot Election 
respecting Proposed Annexation Number 32 to Community Facilities 
District Number 2 (Services Mitigation) and ordering annexation was 
introduced by Councilmember Monez, seconded by Councilmember 
Franco, and carried 5/0 by the following vote: 
 

Councilmember 
Larson 

Councilmember 
Nosrati 

Councilmember 
Franco 

Councilmember 
Monez 

Mayor 
Bublak 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 
 

C. Utilities Manager, Carl Brown presented the staff report on the request to repeal Turlock 
Municipal Code Title 6, Chapter 3, regarding Garbage, Rubbish, and Organic Refuse in 
its entirety, and add a new Title 6, Chapter 3, regarding Garbage, Recyclable Materials, 
and Organic Waste to incorporate changes related to upcoming SB 1383 state mandated 
requirements. 

 
Mayor Bublak opened the public hearing. 
 
The following members of the public spoke: 
 
Milt Treiweiler  
Gil Esquer 
Alan Marchant 
 
Mayor Bublak closed the public hearing. 
 
Council and staff discussion included encouraging composting bins. 
 
 
 



 DRAFT MINUTES 

  Regular Meeting 
 December 14, 2021 
 Page 9 

 

 
Action: Motion by Councilmember Franco, seconded by Councilmember Monez, 

introducing an ordinance repealing Turlock Municipal Code Title 6, Chapter 
3, regarding Garbage, Rubbish, and Organic Refuse in its entirety, and 
adding a new Title 6, Chapter 3, regarding Garbage, Recyclable Materials, 
and Organic Waste to incorporate changes related to upcoming SB 1383 
state mandated requirements and setting the final reading date for January 
11, 2022.  Motion carried 5/0 by the following vote: 

 
Councilmember 

Larson 
Councilmember 

Nosrati 
Councilmember 

Franco 
Councilmember 

Monez 
Mayor 
Bublak 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 
 

D. Finance Director Isaac Moreno presented the staff report on the request to supersede and 
replace Resolution No. 2020-007 and adopting updated cost recovery percentages and 
the schedule of fees and charges for City services, to include City recreational services, 
pursuant to Turlock Municipal Code Section 3-3-301 et seq. 
 
Council and staff discussion included reassessing this document every five years. 
 
Mayor Bublak opened the public hearing. No one spoke. Mayor Bublak closed the public 
hearing. 
 
 
Action: Resolution No. 2021-251:  Superseding and replacing Resolution No. 

2020-007 and adopting updated cost recovery percentages and the 
schedule of fees and charges for City services, to include City recreational 
services, pursuant to Turlock Municipal Code Section 3-3-301 et seq. was 
introduced by Councilmember Franco, seconded by Councilmember 
Monez, and carried 5/0 by the following vote: 

 
Councilmember 

Larson 
Councilmember 

Nosrati 
Councilmember 

Franco 
Councilmember 

Monez 
Mayor 
Bublak 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 
 
9. ACTION ITEMS: 
 

A. Finance Director Isaac Moreno presented the staff report on the request to authorize the 
City Manager to execute and sign a service agreement between the City of Turlock and 
Downtown Modesto Partnership in a form approved by the City Attorney, in the amount 
not to exceed $1,115,000, for the RAD Card Program AND a Service Agreement between 
the City of Turlock and Downtown Modesto Partnership for the RAD Card Program in a 
form approved by the City Attorney and appropriating $1,115,000 from Fund 119 
(American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) Fund) Unassigned Reserves to Expense Account 
Number 119-10-188.47188 “American Rescue Plan Act – RAD Card” for the RAD Card 
matching program.   

 
Council and staff discussion included questions on how businesses can participate. 



 DRAFT MINUTES 

  Regular Meeting 
 December 14, 2021 
 Page 10 

 

 
Mayor Bublak opened public comment. 
 
The following members of the public spoke: 
 
Lori Smith 
Milt Treiweiler 
Cheryl  
Candice Gonzalez 
 
Mayor Bublak closed public comment. 
 
Additional Council and staff discussion included splitting the funding into two allotments. 
The first to be available immediately and the second to be available in February.  
 
Action: Amended Motion by Councilmember Monez, seconded by Councilmember 

Larson, authorizing the City Manager to execute and sign a service 
agreement between the City of Turlock and Downtown Modesto 
Partnership in a form approved by the City Attorney, in the amount not to 
exceed $1,115,000, for the RAD Card Program, releasing half of the funds 
immediately, and the remaining funds on February 1, 2022.  Motion carried 
5/0 by the following vote: 

 
Councilmember 

Larson 
Councilmember 

Nosrati 
Councilmember 

Franco 
Councilmember 

Monez 
Mayor 
Bublak 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 
Resolution No. 2021-252:  Approving a Service Agreement between the 
City of Turlock and Downtown Modesto Partnership for the RAD Card 
Program in a form approved by the City Attorney and appropriating 
$1,115,000 from Fund 119 (American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) Fund) 
Unassigned Reserves to Expense Account Number 119-10-188.47188 
“American Rescue Plan Act – RAD Card” for the RAD Card matching 
program was introduced by Councilmember Monez, seconded by 
Councilmember Larson, and carried 5/0 by the following vote: 

 
Councilmember 

Larson 
Councilmember 

Nosrati 
Councilmember 

Franco 
Councilmember 

Monez 
Mayor 
Bublak 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 
 

B. Deputy Development Services Director/Planning Manager presented the staff report on 
the request to authorize staff to prepare a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with 
Stanislaus County to participate financially in a County-led road rehabilitation project in 
select county islands adjacent to the City’s public right of way.   
 
Council and staff discussion included cost analysis and roads to be included in this 
project. 
 
Mayor Bublak opened public comment. 



 DRAFT MINUTES 

  Regular Meeting 
 December 14, 2021 
 Page 11 

 

 
The following members of the public spoke: 
 
Gil Esquer 
 
Mayor Bublak closed public comment. 
 
Additional Council and staff discussion included information the LiDAR trucks would 
provide related to road improvements. 
 
Action: Motion by Councilmember Franco, seconded by Councilmember Monez, 

authorizing staff to prepare a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with 
Stanislaus County to participate financially in a County-led road 
rehabilitation project in select county islands adjacent to the City’s public 
right of way.  Motion carried 5/0 by the following vote: 

 
Councilmember 

Larson 
Councilmember 

Nosrati 
Councilmember 

Franco 
Councilmember 

Monez 
Mayor 
Bublak 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 
 

C. Interim Municipal Services Director Dan Madden presented the staff report on the request 
to authorize staff to proceed with the property owner notification requirements of 
Proposition 218 for the consideration of increasing the monthly solid waste fees/charges 
and establish a public hearing date of February 8, 2022.   

 
Councilmember Larson stepped down from the dais at 8:16 pm and returned at 8:21 pm. 

 
Mayor Bublak stepped down from the dais at 8:24 pm and returned at 8:27 pm. 
 
Mayor Bublak announced there was a green sheet on this matter. 
 
Mayor Bublak opened public comment. 
 
The following members of the public spoke: 
 
Alan Marchant 
Gil Esquer 
Cheryl Reiland 
 
Mayor Bublak closed public comment. 
 
Council and staff thanked Turlock Scavenger for their efforts. 
 
Action: Motion by Councilmember Monez, seconded by Councilmember Franco, 

authorizing staff to proceed with the property owner notification 
requirements of Proposition 218 for the consideration of increasing the 
monthly solid waste fees/charges and establishing a public hearing date of 
February 8, 2022.  Motion carried 5/0 by the following vote: 

 
Councilmember 

Larson 
Councilmember 

Nosrati 
Councilmember 

Franco 
Councilmember 

Monez 
Mayor 
Bublak 



 DRAFT MINUTES 

  Regular Meeting 
 December 14, 2021 
 Page 12 

 
Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 
D. Interim Fire Chief Michael Botto presented the staff report on the request to direct the City 

Manager and Interim Fire Chief to request a contract proposal from the City of Modesto, 
Modesto Fire Department providing for administration, management, and command of the 
Turlock City Fire Department. 

 
Council and staff discussion included amending the Citygate scope of work and related 
impacts increasing the scope would affect the contract. 
 
Mayor Bublak opened public comment. 
 
The following members of the public spoke: 
 
Chad Hackett 
Milt Treiweiler 
Gil Esquer 
Debra Sextant 
Ken McDay 
Cheryl Paron 
Mark Gomez 
 
Mayor Bublak closed public comment. 
 
Additional Council and staff discussion included concerns related to moving a portion of 
the Fire Department to City of Modesto. 
 
Councilmember Larson discussed amendments to the Citygate contract to be added to 
into the Fire Master Plan Study.  
 
Action: Motion by Councilmember Larson, seconded by Councilmember Nosrati, 

Directing the City Manager and Interim Fire Chief to request a contract 
proposal from the City of Modesto, Modesto Fire Department providing for 
administration, management, and command of the Turlock City Fire 
Department, with this information to be provided to Citygate and included 
in the scope of work for the master plan study and to be included in a 
holistic report at the end of the master plan study by Citygate.  Motion failed 
2/3 by the following vote: 

 
Councilmember 

Larson 
Councilmember 

Nosrati 
Councilmember 

Franco 
Councilmember 

Monez 
Mayor 
Bublak 

Yes Yes No No No 

 
 
Action: Motion by Councilmember Monez, seconded by Councilmember Franco, 

Directing the City Manager and Interim Fire Chief to request a contract 
proposal from the City of Modesto, Modesto Fire Department providing for 
administration, management, and command of the Turlock City Fire 
Department.  Motion carried 3/2 by the following vote: 

 
 



 DRAFT MINUTES 

  Regular Meeting 
 December 14, 2021 
 Page 13 

 
Councilmember 

Larson 
Councilmember 

Nosrati 
Councilmember 

Franco 
Councilmember 

Monez 
Mayor 
Bublak 

No No Yes Yes Yes 

 
E. Finance Director Isaac Moreno presented the staff report on the request to authorize 

Interim City Manager or designee to utilize an Engineering firm to prepare specifications 
for Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning (HVAC) replacements and UV light filtration 
system installation throughout city facilities and execute bid process.   
 
Mayor Bublak opened public comment. No one spoke. Mayor Bublak closed public 
comment. 
 
Additional Council and staff discussion included ARPA funds being used as the funding 
source for this project. 
 
Action: Motion by Councilmember Monez, seconded by Councilmember Franco, 

authorizing Interim City Manager or designee to utilize an Engineering firm 
to prepare specifications for Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning 
(HVAC) replacements and UV light filtration system installation throughout 
city facilities and executing bid process.  Motion carried 4/1 by the following 
vote: 

 
Councilmember 

Larson 
Councilmember 

Nosrati 
Councilmember 

Franco 
Councilmember 

Monez 
Mayor 
Bublak 

No Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 
 
10. CITY MANAGER REPORTS/UPDATES 

City Manager reports/updates are provided for informational purposes only and no action or discussion may be 
undertaken.  The City Manager may direct department heads to provide reports/updates at the City Manager’s request. 
 

 
A. Fire Department 

1. Public Safety Briefing 
 
A written Fire Department update was provided in the agenda packet. 
 

B. Municipal Services Department 
1. Muni Update 

 
Interim Municipal Services Director Dan Madden provided a Municipal Services 
Department update including Water Quality Control Facility and recent storm 
events. 

 
C. Finance 

1. Finance  
 

Finance Director Isaac Moreno provided a Finance update including Business 
and Employee Wellness RFP/RFI. 

 
D. City Manager 

1. Administration  



 DRAFT MINUTES 

  Regular Meeting 
 December 14, 2021 
 Page 14 

 
 

A written City Manager update was provided in the agenda packet and provided 
information on new Department of Public Health mask requirements. 
 

11. COUNCIL ITEMS FOR FUTURE CONSIDERATION 
Requests for Council items for future consideration will be scheduled in accordance with the City of Turlock Elected 
and Appointed Officials’ Handbook (Resolution No. 2019-094), unless otherwise specified by the Mayor or a majority 
of the Council. 
 

Councilmember Monez requested an RFP/RFQ be issued for backup gas cards for employees. 
 
Councilmember Larson requested a briefing by Dr. Nadu at Emanuel Medical Center on COVID 
information. 
 
 

12. AD HOC COMMITTEE REPORTS:  None  
 
 
13. COUNCILMEMBER QUESTIONS, COMMENTS, AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

Councilmembers may ask questions, provide comments, and make brief announcements on notable topics of interest.  
The Brown Act does not allow discussion or action by the legislative body. 

 
Councilmembers thanked City staff for their hard work and participation in the Christmas Parade, 
and wished everyone a Merry Christmas and Happy New Year. 
 
Councilmember Monez thanked the public who came to the meeting and spoke.  
 
Mayor Bublak appointed Councilmember Franco and Councilmember Monez to a Columbia Pool 
Ad Hoc Committee. 

 
 
14. CLOSED SESSION: 
 
Deputy City Clerk Lisa Schimmelfennig introduced the Closed Session Items. 
 

A. Conference with Labor Negotiators, Cal. Gov’t Code §54957.6(a) 
“Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a legislative body of a local agency may hold closed sessions with the 
local agency's designated representatives regarding the salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the 
form of fringe benefits of its represented and unrepresented employees, and, for represented employees, any other 
matter within the statutorily provided scope of representation.” 

Agency Designated Representative:  Interim City Manager Sarah Eddy 
Employee Organization:  Turlock Management Association-Public Safety 
 

B. Public Employee Appointment, Cal. Gov’t Code §54957(b)(1) 
Title:  City Manager (Discussion Only) 

 
C. Conference with Legal Counsel – Existing Litigation, Cal. Gov’t Code §54956.9(d)(1)   “For 

purposes of this section, litigation shall be considered pending when any of the following circumstances exist…  
Litigation, to which the local agency is a party, has been initiated formally.” 

Name of Case(s): Michael N. Anhar vs. Turlock Police Department 
 

D. Conference with Legal Counsel – Anticipated Litigation, Cal. Gov’t Code §54956.9(d)(2) 



 DRAFT MINUTES 

  Regular Meeting 
 December 14, 2021 
 Page 15 

 
“For the purposes of this section, litigation shall be considered pending when any of the following circumstances 
exist...  A point has been reached where, in the opinion of the legislative body of the local agency on the advice of 
its legal counsel, based on existing facts and circumstances, there is a significant exposure to litigation against the 
local agency.” 

Potential Case(s):  (4 cases) 
 

E. Liability Claims, Cal. Gov’t Code §54956.95 
“For the purposes of [Section 54956.9], ‘existing facts and circumstances’ shall consist only of one of the following: 
The receipt of a claim pursuant to the Government Claims Act (Division 3.6 (commencing with Section 810) of Title 
1 of the Government Code) or some other written communication from a potential plaintiff threatening litigation, 
which claim or communication shall be available for public inspection pursuant to Section 54957.5.” 

Claimant:  John Field 
Agency Claimed Against:  City of Turlock 

 
F. Liability Claims, Cal. Gov’t Code §54956.95 

“For the purposes of [Section 54956.9], ‘existing facts and circumstances’ shall consist only of one of the following: 
The receipt of a claim pursuant to the Government Claims Act (Division 3.6 (commencing with Section 810) of Title 
1 of the Government Code) or some other written communication from a potential plaintiff threatening litigation, 
which claim or communication shall be available for public inspection pursuant to Section 54957.5.” 

Claimant:  Jeff Sousa 
Agency Claimed Against:  City of Turlock 

 
G. Liability Claims, Cal. Gov’t Code §54956.95 

“For the purposes of [Section 54956.9], ‘existing facts and circumstances’ shall consist only of one of the following: 
The receipt of a claim pursuant to the Government Claims Act (Division 3.6 (commencing with Section 810) of Title 
1 of the Government Code) or some other written communication from a potential plaintiff threatening litigation, 
which claim or communication shall be available for public inspection pursuant to Section 54957.5.” 

Claimant:  Joodel Buenrostro 
Agency Claimed Against:  City of Turlock 
 
 

15. REPORTS FROM CLOSED SESSION 
 

Deputy City Clerk Lisa Schimmelfennig reported that for the Closed Session Item E, Liability Claim 
regarding John Field, was rejected. All other Closed Session Items no reportable action was 
taken. 

 
  
16. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Mayor Bublak adjourned the special meeting at 12:15 a.m.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
 RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED 
 
 
 _______________________________ 
 Lisa Schimmelfennig, Deputy City Clerk  



KWeaver
Text Box
6C















KWeaver
Text Box
6D





































KWeaver
Text Box
6E

















KWeaver
Text Box
6F

















KWeaver
Text Box
6G





























KWeaver
Text Box
6H















KWeaver
Text Box
7A



















BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TURLOCK 
 
IN THE MATTER OF REPEALING TURLOCK }  ORDINANCE NO. -CS 
MUNICIPAL CODE TITLE 6, CHAPTER 3,  } 
REGARDING GARBAGE, RUBBISH, AND } 
ORGANIC REFUSE IN ITS ENTIRETY, AND } 
ADDING A NEW TITLE 6, CHAPTER 3, } 
REGARDING GARBAGE, RECYCLABLE } 
MATERIALS, AND ORGANIC WASTE TO } 
INCORPORATE CHANGES RELATED TO } 
UPCOMING SB 1383 STATE MANDATED } 
REQUIREMENTS } 
 } 
 

WHEREAS, The Short-Lived Climate Pollutant Reduction Act (Senate Bill 1383 or 
SB 1383) has the immediate goal of reducing organic waste sent to landfill and the 
ultimate objective of reaching statewide methane emissions reduction targets to reduce 
greenhouses gases and to increase edible food recovery to reduce human food 
insecurity; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Turlock is required adopt and enforce an ordinance (or 

other enforceable mechanism) to implement relevant provisions of SB 1383 by January 
1, 2022, that is applicable to residents and businesses generating or processing solid 
waste; and 

 
WHEREAS, repealing Turlock Municipal Code Title 6, Chapter 3, regarding 

Garbage, Rubbish, and Organic Refuse and adding a new Turlock Municipal Code Title 
6, Chapter 3, regarding Garbage, Recyclable Materials, and Organic Waste will ensure 
compliance with upcoming SB 1383 state mandated requirements. 
 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Turlock as follows: 

 

SECTION 1.  REPEALED:  Title 6, Chapter 3, is hereby repealed in its entirety. 

 

SECTION 2. ADDITION:  Title 6, Chapter 3, is hereby added as follows:  

Chapter 6-3 

GARBAGE, RECYCLABLE MATERIALS AND ORGANIC WASTE 

6-3-01 Declaration of purpose and intent. 

KWeaver
Text Box
7B



The City, in making adequate provision in this article of this chapter for the handling of solid 

waste, is doing so as a subdivision of the State and after being authorized and required to do so 

as a part of the State’s comprehensive program for solid waste management and resource 

recovery and for the preservation, health, safety, and well-being of the public. The Municipal 

Code provisions regarding solid waste handling, and the actions of the City pursuant to those 

provisions, are intended to implement State policy and to provide for the City’s continuing 

authorized evaluation, planning, and supervision in the area. 

The reduction of solid waste landfilling through waste prevention, reuse, recycling, and 

composting, is a statewide mandate (California Integrated Waste Management Act of 1989). In 

addition, reduction of solid waste is a key component of meeting the statewide climate 

protection mandate (California Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006). Furthermore, AB 341, the 

Jobs and Recycling Act of 2011, and AB 1826, the Mandatory Commercial Organics Recycling 

Act of 2014, require businesses and Multi-Family property owners to arrange for recycling and 

organics services.  Additionally, SB 1383, the Short-lived Climate Pollutant Reduction Act of 

2016, seeks to reduce organics in landfills, as a means to reduce methane emissions and to 

increase edible food recovery to reduce human food insecurity. To that end, the State of 

California's Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery (CalRecycle) developed 

regulations that place requirements on multiple entities, many of which are contained herein. 

Therefore, in order to protect the public peace, health, safety, and general welfare, to reduce the 

solid waste stream, to reduce methane emissions from landfills, and to comply with state 

regulations, the City deems it necessary to regulate the separation, collection, disposal and 

recovery of recyclable materials, organic waste, and other solid waste as set forth in this chapter. 

6-3-02 Definitions. 

For the purposes of this chapter, unless otherwise apparent from the context, certain words and 

phrases used in this chapter are defined as follows: 

(a) “Act” means the California Integrated Waste Management Act of 1989 (commencing with 

Section 40000 of the Public Resources Code), as amended, including but not limited to, 

the Jobs and Recycling Act of 2011 (AB 341), SB 1016 (Chapter 343, Statutes of 2008 

[Wiggins, SB 1016]), the Mandatory Commercial Organics Recycling Act of 2014 (AB 1826), 

and the Short-Lived Climate Pollutants Bill of 2016 (SB 1383),  and as implemented by the 

regulations of CalRecycle. 

(b) “Authorized recycling contractor” shall mean and include a person or any other entity 

authorized under and by virtue of a contract with the City of Turlock to collect recyclable 

material in the City. 

(c) “Bidding” shall mean a selection process used to choose a contractor or franchisee. Such 

process shall not necessarily involve the award of a contract or franchise to the lowest 

bidder but may be based on other additional criteria established by the Council. 



(d) “California Code of Regulations” or “CCR” means the State of California Code of 

Regulations. CCR references in this Ordinance are preceded with a number that refers to 

the relevant Title of the CCR (e.g., “14 CCR” refers to Title 14 of CCR). 

(e) “Commercial Business” or “Commercial” means a firm, partnership, proprietorship, joint-

stock company, corporation, or association, whether for-profit or nonprofit, strip mall, 

industrial facility, or a Multi-Family Residential Dwelling, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR 

Section 18982(a)(6). A Multi-Family Residential Dwelling that consists of fewer than five (5) 

units is not a Commercial Business for purposes of implementing this chapter.   

(f) “Commercial Edible Food Generator” includes a Tier One or a Tier Two Commercial Edible 

Food Generator as defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(73) and (a)(74). 

(g) "Compost" means the product resulting from the managed and controlled biological 

decomposition of organic Solid Waste that is Source Separated from the municipal Solid 

Waste stream, or which is separated at a centralized facility.  

(h) “Compost Container” has the same meaning as “Green Container” in 14 CCR Section 

18982(a)(29) and shall be used for the purpose of storage and collection of Source 

Separated Organic Waste designated for the Compost Container, including Food Waste, 

landscape and pruning waste accepted in the City’s Organic Waste Collection program, 

and other organic materials as determined by the City as acceptable for the Compost 

Container. 

(i) “Container” shall mean and include bin, box, cart, and receptacle. 

(j) “Designated recycling collection location” shall mean and include the place designated in 

the contract between the City and an authorized recycling contractor from which the 

authorized recycling contractor has contracted to collect recyclable waste material. 

(k) “Designee” means a person or entity that the City Manager or Municipal Services Director 

designates, contracts with or otherwise arranges to carry out any of the Jurisdiction’s 

responsibilities of this chapter authorized in 14 CCR Section 18981.2.  A Designee may be 

a government employee or entity, a private entity, or a combination of those entities.  

(l) “Disposal charge” shall mean the cost for removal and disposal of waste and industrial 

refuse service. 

(m) “Edible Food” means food intended for human consumption, or as otherwise defined in 

14 CCR Section 18982(a)(18). For the purposes of this chapter or as otherwise defined in 

14 CCR Section 18982(a)(18), “Edible Food” is not Solid Waste if it is recovered and not 

discarded. Nothing in this chapter or in 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12 requires or 

authorizes the recovery of Edible Food that does not meet the food safety requirements 

of the California Retail Food Code. 

(n) “Electronic waste” (E-waste) shall mean computers, CRTs, monitors, copiers, fax machines, 

printers, televisions, and other electronic items. 

(o) “Enforcement Action" means an action of the relevant Enforcement Officer to address non-

compliance with this chapter including, but not limited to, issuing abatement notices, 



administrative citations, fines, penalties, or using other remedies as authorized by Title 1 

of the Turlock Municipal Code. 

(p) "Enforcement Officer” means a person or entity the Municipal Services Manager 

designates to enforce part or all of this chapter. Enforcement Officers may carry out 

inspections and enforcement activities pursuant to this chapter. The City of Turlock has 

enforcement responsibility for all sections of this chapter. The City may choose to 

additionally delegate Enforcement Officer responsibility for certain sections, to other 

public entities. Nothing in this chapter authorizing an entity to enforce its terms shall 

require that entity to undertake such enforcement except as agreed to by that entity and 

the City.  

(q) “Excluded Waste” means hazardous substances, hazardous waste, infectious waste, 

designated waste, waste that is volatile, corrosive or infectious, medical waste, regulated 

radioactive waste, and toxic substances or material that facility operator(s), which receive 

materials from Turlock and its Generators, reasonably believe(s) would, as a result of or 

upon acceptance, transfer, processing, or disposal, be a violation of local, State, or Federal 

law, regulation, or ordinance, including land use restrictions or conditions, including but 

not limited to: waste that cannot be disposed of in Class III landfills or accepted at the 

facility by permit conditions; waste that in the reasonable opinion of Turlock or its 

Designee  would present a significant risk to human health or the environment, cause a 

nuisance or otherwise create or expose Turlock or its Designee to potential liability; but 

not including de minimis volumes or concentrations of waste of a type and amount 

normally found in Single-Family or Multi-Family Solid Waste after implementation of 

programs for the safe collection, processing, recycling, treatment, and disposal of batteries 

and paint in compliance with Sections 41500 and 41802 of the Public Resources Code. 

Excluded Waste does not include used motor oil and filters, or other materials defined as 

allowable materials for collection through the City’s collection programs and the Generator 

or customer has properly placed the materials for collection pursuant to instructions 

provided by the City or the Franchised Collector providing service to the Generator. 

(r) “Food facility” has the same meaning as in Section 113789 of the Health and Safety Code.  

(s) “Food Recovery Organization” means an entity that engages in the collection or receipt of 

Edible Food from Commercial Edible Food Generators and distributes that Edible Food to 

the public for Food Recovery either directly or through other entities or as otherwise 

defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(25), including, but not limited to: 

(1) A food bank as defined in Section 113783 of the Health and Safety Code; 

(2) A nonprofit charitable organization as defined in Section 113841 of the Health and 

Safety code; and, 

(3) A nonprofit charitable temporary food facility as defined in Section 113842 of the 

Health and Safety Code. 

(t) “Food Recovery Service” means a person or entity that collects and transports Edible Food 

from a Commercial Edible Food Generator to a Food Recovery Organization or other 

entities for Food Recovery, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(26). A Food 



Recovery Service is not a Commercial Edible Food Generator for the purposes of this 

chapter and implementation of 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12 pursuant to 14 CCR Section 

18982(a)(7). 

(u) “Food Scraps” means all edible or inedible food such as, but not limited to, fruits, 

vegetables, meat, poultry, seafood, shellfish, bones, rice, beans, pasta, bread, cheese, 

coffee grounds, and eggshells. Food Scraps excludes fats, oils, and grease when such 

materials are Source Separated from other Food Scrap.  

(v) “Food Service Provider” is a Tier 1 Commercial Edible Food Generator and means an entity 

primarily engaged in providing food services to institutional, governmental, Commercial, 

or industrial locations of others based on contractual arrangements with these types of 

organizations, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(27). 

(w) “Food Waste” means Food Scraps and food soiled paper.   

(x) “Franchised Collector” means such persons, firms or corporations collecting and delivering 

for disposal, recycling or processing, garbage, recyclable materials or organic waste (other 

than solid waste generated by a permitted building project) originating in the City and 

doing so under a franchise agreement with the City.  

(y) "Garbage" means those elements of the Solid Waste stream designated for the  “Garbage 

Container”, and excludes  hazardous waste, Excluded Waste, materials designated for the 

“Compost Container” or “Recycling Container”, or materials which have been separated for 

reuse. 

(z) “Garbage Container” has the same meaning as “Gray Container” in 14 CCR Section 

18982(a)(28) and shall be used for the purpose of storage and collection of Garbage.  

(aa) “Generator” means a person or entity that is responsible for the initial creation of 

Garbage, Organic Waste, or Recyclable Materials.  

(bb) “Grocery Store” is a Tier 1 Commercial Edible Food Generator and means a store primarily 

engaged in the retail sale of canned food; dry goods; fresh fruits and vegetables; fresh 

meats, fish, and poultry; and any area that is not separately owned within the store where 

the food is prepared and served, including a bakery, deli, and meat and seafood 

departments, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(30). 

(cc) “High Diversion Organic Waste Processing Facility” means a facility that is in compliance 

with the reporting requirements of 14 CCR Section 18815.5(d) and meets or exceeds an 

annual average mixed waste organic content recovery rate of 50 percent between 

January 1, 2022 and December 31, 2024, and 75 percent after January 1, 2025, as 

calculated pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18815.5(e) for Organic Waste received from the 

“Mixed waste organic collection stream” as defined in 14 CCR Section 17402(a)(11.5); or, 

as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(33). 

(dd) “Industrial refuse” shall mean refuse produced by a person principally engaged in the 

business of growing, processing, or manufacturing agricultural, animal, or other products 

or materials whose principal outlet for such products is wholesale rather than retail; is 

collected by a licensee from a container whose volume equals or exceeds ten (10) cubic 



yards; and refuse produced by any person engaged in the business of building 

construction or demolition. 

(ee) “Inspection” means a site visit where an Enforcement Officer reviews records, containers, 

and an entity’s collection, handling, recycling, or landfill disposal of Organic Waste or 

Edible Food handling to determine if the entity is complying with requirements set forth 

in this ordinance, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(35) 

(ff) “License” shall mean a City of Turlock business license, or other such license as required 

by the City Council. 

(gg) “Multi-Family Residential Dwelling” or “Multi-Family” means for the purpose of 

implementing this chapter, of, from, or pertaining to residential premises with five (5) or 

more dwelling units. Multi-Family premises are considered a distinct type of Commercial 

Business for the purposes of implementing SB 1383 requirements. Consistent with SB 1383 

Regulations, residential premises that consist of fewer than five units are not “Multi-

Family” and instead are “Single-Family” for the purposes of implementing this chapter. 

Multi-Family premises do not include hotels, motels, or other transient occupancy facilities, 

which are considered Commercial Businesses that are not Multi-Family Residential 

Dwellings. 

(hh) “Municipal Services Director” shall mean the director of the department responsible for 

the implementation of the requirements of this chapter. 

(ii) “Organic Waste” means Solid Waste containing material originated from living organisms 

and their metabolic waste products, including but not limited to Food Scraps, food soiled 

paper, landscape and pruning waste, organic textiles and organic carpets, lumber, wood, 

paper products, printing and writing paper, manure, biosolids, digestate, and sludges or 

as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(46). Organic Waste does not include 

Compostable Plastic.  

(jj) “Organic Waste Generator” means a person or entity that is responsible for the initial 

creation of Organic Waste, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(48). 

(kk) “Person” shall mean and include any individual, firm, co-partnership, corporation, 

company, association, joint-stock association, or body politic group, or combination, and 

the plural as well as the singular; and includes any trustee, receiver, assignee, or other 

similar representative thereof. 

(ll) “Premises” means any real property or estate which may be devised or granted by deed.  

(mm) “Prohibited Container Contaminants” includes all of the following: (i) materials placed in 

the Recycling Container that are not identified as acceptable Source Separated Recyclable 

Materials for the City’s Recycling Container; (ii) materials placed in the Compost Container 

that are not identified as acceptable Source Separated  Organic Waste for the City’s 

Compost Container; (iii) materials placed in the Garbage Container that are acceptable 

Source Separated Recyclable Materials and/or acceptable Source Separated  Organic 

Waste that can be placed in the City’s Compost Container and/or Recycling Container; 

and, (iv) Excluded Waste placed in any container. 



(nn) “Property Owner” means the owner of real property.  

(oo) “Recycling” shall mean and include the process of collecting and converting recyclable 

waste material by reprocessing or other such remanufacturing. 

(pp) “Recycling Container” has the same meaning as “Blue Container” in 14 CCR Section 

18982.2(a)(5) and shall be used for the purpose of storage and collection of Source 

Separated Recyclable Materials.   

(qq) “SB 1383” means Senate Bill 1383, the Short-lived Climate Pollutant Reduction Act of 2016. 

(rr) “SB 1383 Regulations” means or refers to, for the purposes of this Ordinance, the Short-

Lived Climate Pollutants: Organic Waste Reduction regulations developed by CalRecycle 

and adopted in 2020 that created 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12 and amended portions 

of regulations of 14 CCR and 27 CCR.  

(ss) “Self-Hauler” means a generator who transports its own Solid Waste by using a vehicle 

owned by that generator and driven by the generator or the generator’s employees, rather 

than the Franchised Collector.  Self-hauler also includes a person or entity who back hauls 

waste, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(66). Back-haul means 

generating and transporting Organic Waste to a destination owned and operated by the 

Generator using the Generator’s own employees and equipment, or as otherwise defined 

in 14 CCR Section 189881(a)(66)(A).  

(tt) “Single-Family” means, of, from, or pertaining to any residential premises with fewer than 

five units for the purposes of implementing this chapter.  

(uu) “Solid waste” shall mean household waste, construction and demolition debris, sanitation 

residue, and waste from streets. This refuse is generated mainly from residential and 

commercial complexes. 

(vv) “Solid Waste” means Garbage, Recyclable Materials, and Organic Waste and has the same 

meaning as defined in Public Resources Code Section 40191, which defines Solid Waste as 

all putrescible and non-putrescible solid, semisolid, and liquid wastes, including Garbage, 

trash, refuse, paper, rubbish, ashes, industrial wastes, C&D wastes, abandoned vehicles and 

parts thereof, discarded home and industrial appliances, dewatered, treated, or chemically 

fixed sewage sludge which is not hazardous waste, manure, vegetable or animal solid and 

semi-solid wastes, and other discarded solid and semisolid wastes, with the exception that 

Solid Waste does not include any of the following wastes: 

(1) Hazardous waste, as defined in the Public Resources Code Section 40141. 

(2) Radioactive waste regulated pursuant to the State Radiation Control Law (Chapter 

8 (commencing with Section 114960) of Part 9 of Division 104 of the Health and 

Safety Code). 

(3) Medical waste regulated pursuant to the State Medical Waste Management Act 

(Part 14 (commencing with Section 117600) of Division 104 of the Health and 

Safety Code). Untreated medical waste shall not be disposed of in a Solid Waste 



landfill, as defined in Public Resources Code Section 40195.1. Medical waste that 

has been treated and deemed to be Solid Waste shall be regulated pursuant to 

Division 30 of the Public Resources Code.  

(ww) “Source Separated” means materials that have been kept separate from the Solid Waste 

stream, at the point of generation, for the purpose of additional sorting or processing in 

order to return them to the economic mainstream in the form of raw material for new, 

reused, or reconstituted products, which meet the quality standards necessary to be used 

in the marketplace, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 17402.5(b)(4).  

(xx) “Source Separated Organic Waste” means those organics that can be placed in a Compost 

Container including Food Scraps, food soiled paper, landscaping and pruning waste, and 

any other items as determined by the City. 

(yy) "Source Separated Recyclable Materials" means the same thing as “Recyclable Materials” 

and includes those Recyclable Materials that can be placed in the Recycling Container 

including but not limited to, glass and plastic bottles, aluminum, tin and steel cans, metals, 

unsoiled paper products, printing and writing paper, cardboard, and any other items as 

determined by the City.  

(zz) “Special Waste” means a waste which is a hazardous waste only because it contains an 

inorganic substance or substances which cause it to pose a chronic toxicity hazard to 

human health or the environment and which meets all of the criteria and requirements of 

PRC Section 66261.122 and has been classified a special waste pursuant to PRC Section 

66261.124. 

(aaa) “Supermarket” is a Tier 1 Commercial Edible Food Generator and means a full-line, self-

service retail store with gross annual sales of two million dollars ($2,000,000), or more, and 

which sells a line of dry grocery, canned goods, or nonfood items and some perishable 

items, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(71).  

(bbb) “Tier 1 Commercial Edible Food Generator” means a Commercial Edible Food Generator 

that is one of the following: 

(1) Supermarkets with gross annual sales of $2,000,000 or more, or as defined in 14 

CCR Section 18982(a)(71).  

(2) Grocery store with a total facility size equal to or greater than 10,000 square feet, 

as defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(30). 

(3) Food Service Provider which means an entity primarily engaged in providing food 

services to institutional, governmental, Commercial, or industrial locations of 

others based on contractual arrangements with these types of organizations, or as 

otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(27). 

(4) Wholesale food vendor which means a business or establishment engaged in the 

merchant wholesale distribution of food, where food (including fruits and 

vegetables) is received, shipped, stored, and prepared for distribution to a retailer, 

warehouse, distributor, or other destination, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR 

Section 189852(a)(76) 



(5) Food Distributor which means a company that distributes food to entities 

including, but not limited to, supermarkets and grocery stores or as otherwise 

defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(22). 

 

(ccc)  “Tier 2 Commercial Edible Food Generator” means a Commercial Edible Food 

Generator that is one of the following: 

(1) Restaurant which means an establishment primarily engaged in the retail sale of 

food and drinks for on-premises or immediate consumption, or as otherwise defined 

in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(64) and which has 250 or more seats, or a total facility size 

equal to or greater than 5,000 square feet. 

(2) Hotel with an on-site food facility and 200 or more rooms or as otherwise defined 

in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(74)(B). 

(3) Health facility with an on-site food facility and 100 or more beds, or as otherwise 

defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(73)(C). 

(4) Large Venue, which means a permanent venue facility that annually seats or serves 

an average of more than 2,000 individuals within the grounds of the facility per day of 

operation of the venue facility, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(39). 

For purposes of this chapter and implementation of 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12, a 

venue facility includes, but is not limited to, a public, nonprofit, or privately owned or 

operated stadium, amphitheater, arena, hall, amusement park, conference or civic 

center, zoo, aquarium, airport, racetrack, horse track, performing arts center, 

fairground, museum, theater, or other public attraction facility. For purposes of this 

chapter and implementation of 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12, a site under common 

ownership or control that includes more than one Large Venue that is contiguous with 

other Large Venues in the site, is a single Large Venue.  

(5) Large Event, as defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(38) means an event that serves 

an average of more than 2,000 individuals per day of operation of the event and either: 

1) charges an admission price; or 2) is operated by a local agency. 

(6) A state agency with a cafeteria with 250 or more seats or total cafeteria facility size 

equal to or greater than 5,000 square feet. 

(7) A local education agency, which means a school district, charter school, or county 

office of education that is not subject to the control of city or county regulations 

related to Solid Waste, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(40), and 

which has an on-site food facility. 

 

(ddd) “Universal waste” (U-waste) shall mean hazardous wastes that are more common and 

pose a lower risk to people and the environment than other hazardous waste. Some items 

considered as universal waste include: mercury thermostats, batteries, lamps, non-aerosol 

cans, mercury switches, mercury thermometers, pressure or vacuum gauges, dilators and 

weighted tubing, rubber flooring, consumer electronic devices, cathode ray tubes, and 

various gauges. 



(eee) “User Disposal Containers” are containers inside a business for the collection of Source 

Separated Organic Waste, Source Separated Recyclables and Garbage for employees, 

contractors, tenants, customers, and other users of the business.  

 

Article 1. Collection Charges 

6-3-101 Fees and charges. 

The fees/charges to be charged for the collection of Garbage Container, Compost Container and 

Recycling Container are shown in the table below. A consolidated bill for Garbage Container, 

Compost Container and Recycling Container, industrial refuse, water, and sewer charges will be 

sent to the person responsible for the payment of water and sewer charges. 

TYPE OF SERVICE Monthly Cart Service Fee/Charge 

Residential – 32 Includes: 

1 - 32 gallon garbage (grey) 

1 - 68 gallon recyclable materials (blue) 

1 - 95 gallon organic waste (green) 

Residential 32 Regular Fee/Charge $27.40 

Residential 32 Senior Citizen Fee/Charge $20.95 

Residential – 64 Includes: 

1 - 64 gallon garbage(grey) 

1 - 68 gallon recycle (blue) 

1 - 95 gallon organic waste (green) 

Residential 64 Regular Fee/Charge $36.20 

Residential – 96 Includes: 

1 - 96 gallon garbage (grey) 

1 - 68 gallon recyclable materials(blue) 

1 - 95 gallon organic waste (green) 

Residential 96 Regular Fee/Charge $41.70 

ADDITIONAL CART FEES 

Each Additional Extra Cart for Recyclable 

Material, including Compost Container 

Garbage Cart (green) and Recyclable 

materials Cart (blue) 

$8.35 

SPECIAL CART SERVICES 



Damaged Cart Replacement 32 gallon grey 

64 gallon grey 

68 gallon blue 

95 gallon green 

96 gallon grey 

$32.00 

$42.00 

$42.00 

$46.00 

$46.00 

Cart Cleaning or Swap Charge 1st cart 

Each additional cart 

$25.00 

$ 5.00 

Return for Cart Service Charge 1st cart 

Each additional cart 

$ 5.00 

$ 2.00 

Recyclable Materials/ 

Organic Waste Cart Contaminate Fee 
$15.00 each cart 

Commercial Cart Service Includes: 

1 - 95 gallon refuse 

(grey) 

  

Commercial Cart Service $22.75   

TYPE OF SERVICE Monthly Fee/Charge 

Commercial Bin Service 

2-Yard Bin 

pickup 1 time a week 

pickup 2 times a week 

pickup 3 times a week 

pickup 4 times a week 

pickup 5 times a week 

pickup 6 times a week 

  

$81.05 

$143.60 

$205.75 

$269.45 

$331.60 

$393.30 

3-Yard Bin 

pickup 1 time a week 

pickup 2 times a week 

pickup 3 times a week 

pickup 4 times a week 

pickup 5 times a week 

pickup 6 times a week 

  

$100.90 

$183.55 

$263.70 

$348.20 

$430.65 

$513.10 

4-Yard Bin 

pickup 1 time a week 

pickup 2 times a week 

pickup 3 times a week 

pickup 4 times a week 

pickup 5 times a week 

  

$123.55 

$228.15 

$332.75 

$437.50 

$542.25 



pickup 6 times a week $647.00 

6-Yard Bin 

pickup 1 time a week 

pickup 2 times a week 

pickup 3 times a week 

pickup 4 times a week 

pickup 5 times a week 

pickup 6 times a week 

$162.85 

$306.45 

$448.80 

$594.30 

$736.85 

$880.45 

Special Bin Services 

Special Pickup 

$2.90 per yard plus $35.00 

2-Yard Bin $40.80 

  3-Yard Bin $43.70 

  4-Yard Bin $46.60 

  6-Yard Bin $52.40 

Cleaning and Replacement $35.00 plus special pickup charge 

Gate Fee/Charge $16.80 per month per bin per pickup 

Bin Compactor 

Fee/Charge 

$10.10 per cubic yard per pickup 

3-Yard Temporary Bin $51.00 per week with one dump 

$51.00 per each additional dump 

Bin Push Out Fee/Charge $16.80 per month per bin per pickup 

TYPE OF SERVICE Fee/Charge 

Commercial Box Service Hauling Fee Disposal Charge 

15-19 Yard Box $127.50 $74.61 per ton fee 

20-29 Yard Box $148.80 $74.61 per ton fee 

30-50 Yard Box $184.20 $74.61 per ton fee 

One Price for All Sizes $161.30 $74.61 per ton fee 

Special Box Services: 

Box Compactor Fee/Charge Must be negotiated, by size and weight. 

Disposal will be actual disposal charge. 

Box Rental $2.00 per day 



TYPE OF SERVICE Fee/Charge 

Box Special Pickup Hauling fee + $35.00 

EXTRA CHARGE ITEMS Fee/Charge 

Electronic Waste (E-Waste) 

Computer Monitors and Televisions   

Computer Monitors $20.00 

Table Top Televisions $25.00 

Console and Big Screen Televisions $35.00 

Universal Waste (U-Waste) 

Microwaves, Dishwashers, Washing Machines, Dryers, Toaster 

Ovens, Stoves or Ovens, Hot Water Heaters and Furnaces 

$8.25 per appliance 

Refrigeration Equipment, A/C Units, Etc. $23.55 per unit 

Tires 

Passenger $5.90 

Passenger with Rim $9.40 

Truck $14.10 

Trucks with Rim $22.90 

Tractor and Heavy Equipment From $80.00 to $600.00 

6-3-102 Disputes. 

In all cases where disputes arise as to the rate charged or to be charged for any service provided 

pursuant to the provisions of this article or any contract entered into by the City for the 

collection of waste, the matter shall be referred to the Council, and the Council, upon due 

investigation, shall determine and fix the rate as the Council may deem just and equitable. The 

determination of the Council thereon in all cases shall be final and conclusive. 

6-3-103 Unauthorized dumping on City or private property prohibited. 

(a) No person shall dump, deposit, place, cause, or assist in the dumping, depositing, or 

placing, upon City of Turlock property, or any portion thereof, or in any City of Turlock 

garbage, compost or recycling container, any garbage or industrial refuse, organic waste 

or recyclable materials as those terms are commonly known, used, or defined in this 

chapter. 



 

(b) No person shall dump, deposit or place, or cause or assist in the dumping, depositing, or 

placing, upon any private property, or any portion thereof, or in any garbage, organic 

container, other than the one issued or assigned for their personal use, any waste or 

industrial refuse, as those terms are commonly known, used or defined in this chapter. 

6-3-104 Mandatory Subscription to Services and Payment of collection charges. 

(a) Every Single Family Premises or Commercial Business (throughout this chapter, 

Commercial Business includes Multi-Family Residential Dwellings of five (5) or more 

units, unless otherwise excluded) in the City shall be required to subscribe with the 

Franchised Collector(s) for Garbage Container, Recycling Container and Compost 

Container collection; comply with the relevant sections of this chapter, state law and 

local ordinances; and to pay for the collection and disposal of such containers, regardless 

of whether such owner elects to use such service, unless the Commercial Business Owner 

receives a waiver as provided in this chapter or material is self-hauled per the self-hauler 

requirements in this chapter. Subscription to such required service does not preclude 

Commercial Businesses from self-hauling their own waste in their own vehicles if they 

meet the self-haul requirements noted in this chapter. 

 

(b) Nothing in this article shall limit the right of an individual person, organization, or other 

entity to donate, sell or otherwise dispose of recyclables waste material; provided, that 

any such disposal is in accordance with the provisions of this article.  

 

(c) Billing and payment. Accounts for garbage, organic waste, and recyclable materials 

collection shall be billed by service date in conjunction with billing for sewer and water 

services and shall be due and payable in the City of Turlock Finance Office by the due 

date shown on the utility bill. 

 

(d) Nonpayment of collection charges. In the event of nonpayment of the charges for the 

collection and disposal of garbage, organic waste, and recyclable materials as provided 

in this article, the following procedures and penalties shall apply: 

 

(1) If payment for any charges shown on utility bill are not received by the City of 

Turlock Finance Office by 5:00 p.m. on the fifth day following the due date 

(including applicable penalties), the customer’s account shall be charged a 

delinquency penalty of Twenty-Five and no/100ths ($25.00) Dollars on the sixth 

day. 

 

(2) Notice. A written notice of delinquency shall be sent by the Finance Office to any 

customer whose account remains delinquent. The written notice to be mailed or 

delivered to the customer shall notify him that the service is subject to 

disconnection and/or delinquent charges will be submitted for collection. Such 

notice shall contain the information to avoid such action. The City of Turlock shall 



give notice of the delinquency and impending termination pursuant to 

Section 10010 of the Public Utilities Code. 

 

(3) If payment of said billing is not received by the City of Turlock Finance Office, or 

other arrangements are not made, by 5:00 p.m. on the fifth day following the due 

date (including applicable penalties), service may be terminated or submitted for 

collection; provided, that notice was given pursuant to Section 10010 of the Public 

Utilities Code and that termination of services for nonpayment of billing shall not 

occur on any Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday, or at any time during which the 

business office of the City of Turlock is not open to the public. 

 

(e) Wrongful termination. Any wrongfully terminated service shall be restored without 

charge for the restoration of service, and a notation thereof shall be mailed to the 

customer at the billing address. 

 

(f) Third party notification service for residential customers. The City of Turlock shall make 

available to its residential customers who are sixty-five (65) years of age or older, or who 

are dependent adults as defined in California Welfare and Institutions Code 

Section 15610, a third party notification service whereby the City of Turlock shall attempt 

to notify a person designated by the customer to receive notification when the 

customer’s account is delinquent and subject to termination. The notification shall 

include information on what is required to prevent termination of service. The residential 

customer shall make a request for third party notification on a form provided by the City 

of Turlock and shall include a written consent of the designated third party. The third-

party designation does not obligate the third party to pay the overdue charges, nor shall 

it prevent or delay termination of service. 

 

(g) Nonpayment of collection charges by previous residential tenant. 

(1) The City of Turlock shall not seek to recover any charges or penalties for the furnishing 

of service to or for a residential tenant from any subsequent tenant on account of 

nonpayment of charges by the previous tenant. 

(2) The City of Turlock shall require that service to subsequent tenants be furnished on the 

account of the landlord or property owner when an unpaid bill has been left by the 

previous tenant. 

6-3-105 Vacancy Exception to Subscription:  

(a) Notwithstanding subsection (a) of 6-3-104, the owner of a vacant single-family unit 

which is vacant for more than sixty (60) days and will therefore not utilize collection 

services may suspend their payment obligation for collection services by signing an 

affidavit under penalty of perjury that such single-family unit is vacant. The vacancy 

affidavit will be valid for not more than one (1) year and must be renewed annually. 

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=PUC&sectionNum=10010
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=PUC&sectionNum=10010
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=WIC&sectionNum=15610


Failure to renew the vacancy affidavit will cause the account to resume billing at the 

minimum regular residential service level. 

 

(b) Any property owner who exercises the affidavit procedure of subsection (a) of this 

section shall promise and have the responsibility to give notice to hauler within five (5) 

calendar days that a vacancy no longer exists and thereafter shall pay for resumption of 

such collection services as provided in subsection (a) of 6-3-104. 

 

(c) Any property owner who fails to give notice required by subsection (b) of this section 

and by affidavit shall be fined as follows: 

(1) Have added to their service bill as a penalty the amount for collection services from the 

date reflected in the affidavit; 

(2) Pay a fine for failure to give notice in accordance with this subsection (c) in the amount 

of Two Hundred and no/100ths ($200.00) Dollars. 

 

 

6-3-106 Deposits. 

Monies collected for waste disposal shall be deposited in the general fund. For the “Residential-

64” and “Residential-96” service, forty-one (41%) percent of the amount over the “Residential-

32” regular rate will be deposited into the solid waste education and management fund. 

6-3-107 Garbage, Compost and Recycling Containers. 

Every person in possession of, or having the charge or control of, any Single-Family premises or 

Commercial Business (Commercial Business includes Multi-family premises of five (5) units and 

above throughout this chapter) within the City shall keep and maintain appropriate waste 

collection containers as provided by the contractor.  

Garbage Containers, Compost Containers, and Recycling Containers shall be kept and 

maintained in an accessible place at the rear of Single-Family premises and immediately 

adjoining the alley for Commercial Businesses, or at the rear, if there is no alley. Such person 

shall deposit in the appropriate container the Garbage, Source Separated Recyclable Materials, 

and Source Separated Organic Waste accumulated upon the premises. All such containers shall 

be placed in a location easily accessible to the collection service for pickup and disposal. 

Except as expressly authorized by this chapter, no person other than the City or its franchised 

contractor may place a container, including debris boxes, within the City for the collection of 

garbage, recyclable materials, or organic waste, and no person may use a container, not 



provided by the franchised collector for Garbage, Recyclable Materials or Organic Waste, unless 

the person is the owner of a business in the City, using their own container, with their own 

vehicle to self-haul, and meets the requirements for self-haulers in this Chapter.   

6-3-108 Containers, Participation and Separation Required by all Generators 

Generators subject to the requirements of the Act shall fully comply with all applicable requirements 

of the Act. All commercial businesses shall adhere to any/all applicable laws mandated by the 

State of California with regard to proper disposal and recycling requirements, such as, but not 

limited to, mandatory commercial recycling pursuant to Section 42649 of the Public Resources 

Code and mandatory organics recycling pursuant to AB 1826 and SB 1383 of 2016.  

(a) Generators, including Single-Family, Multi-Family, and Commercial Businesses, except those 

that meet self-hauler requirements set forth in this chapter or Commercial Businesses that 

obtain a waiver pursuant to requirements in this chapter, shall:  

(1) Maintain for such residence or business, separate Garbage, Compost and Recycling 

Containers, supplied by the Franchised Collector. Generators shall arrange for a sufficient 

number of such containers to adequately store all Garbage, Source Separated Recyclable 

Materials, and Source Separated Organic Waste generated in connection with the 

residence or business between the times designated for collection. The City shall have the 

right to review the number and size of such containers to evaluate the adequacy of 

capacity provided for each type of collection service and to require additional or larger 

containers (or additional service days) and to review the separation and containment of 

materials. Generators shall adjust service levels for their collection services as requested 

by the City in order to meet the standards set forth in this chapter. Generators may 

manage their Organic Waste by preventing or reducing their Organic Waste, managing 

Organic Waste on site, and/or using a community composting site pursuant to 14 CCR 

Section 18984.9(c) to the extent permitted by other applicable laws.  

(2) Participate in the collection services provided by the City’s Franchised Collector(s), by 

placing designated materials in designated containers as described below, and not placing 

Prohibited Container Contaminants in collection containers. Generators shall place Source 

Separated Organic Waste, including food waste, in the Compost Container; Source 

Separated Recyclable Materials in the Recycling Container; and Garbage Container Waste 

(Garbage) in the Garbage Container. Generators shall not place materials designated for 

the Garbage Container in the Compost Container or the Recycling Container.  

(3) Place Garbage Containers, Recycling Containers, and Compost Containers on the curb on 

the day specified for collection, unless a waiver has been granted by the Municipal 

Services Director pursuant to this chapter. Containers shall be placed in front of the 

Premises in a location reasonably convenient for semi-automated or automated 

collection. The only exception would be if Generator has reached an agreement with 

Franchised Collector for an alternative collection location.  

(4) Maintain Garbage Containers, Recycling Containers and Compost Containers in a sanitary 

condition at all times. Any bulky material must be reduced in size so that it may be placed 

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=PRC&sectionNum=42649


in the appropriate container not overflowing and with the cover tightly closed and without 

excessive tamping, so that the container may be easily emptied.  

(5) The gross weight of any one (1) Compost Container shall not be in excess of one 

hundred fifty (150) pounds. The maximum length of any item placed in a Compost 

Container shall be four (4') feet. 

 

(6) No person shall tamper with, modify, remove from, or deposit solid waste in any 

container which has not been provided for their use without the permission of the 

container owner.  

(7) It shall be the responsibility of the Single-Family resident or Commercial Business whose 

Garbage Container, Compost Container, or Recycling Container was not removed because 

it contained prohibited materials to properly separate those materials and place them in 

their designated containers. Allowing unseparated Garbage, Recyclable Materials, or 

Organic Waste to accumulate will be considered a public nuisance with enforcement 

against the responsible person or the Property Owner.  Pursuant to the agreement 

between the City and the Franchise Collector, contamination could also be subject to an 

administrative contamination processing fee or non-collection of the container.  

(b) In addition to the requirements in Section (a) above, Commercial Businesses shall also:  

(1) Commercial Business Owners including Multi-Family, shall provide or arrange for 

Garbage Container, Compost Container, and Recycling Container collection 

service for employees, contractors, tenants, and customers, and supply and allow 

access to adequate number, size, and location of collection containers with 

sufficient labels or colors as noted in (b) (2)(i) and (ii); or, if self-hauling, in 

compliance with self-hauling requirements set forth in this chapter.  

(2) Commercial Businesses that are not Multi-Family Residential Dwellings shall 

provide containers for the collection of Source Separated Organic Waste and 

Source Separated Recyclable Materials in all areas where the Commercial Business 

provides disposal containers for employees, contractors, tenants, customers, and 

other users of the Premises (“User Disposal Containers”). Such User Disposal 

Containers do not need to be provided in restrooms. If a Commercial Business 

does not generate, or has a waiver pertaining to, any of the materials that would 

be collected in one type of User Disposal Container, then the business does not 

have to provide that particular type of container in all areas where User Disposal 

Containers are provided. Pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18984.9(b), the User Disposal 

Containers provided by the business shall have either:  

(i) A body or lid that conforms with the following container colors, with either 

lids conforming to these color requirements or bodies conforming to 

these color requirements, or both lids and bodies conforming to these 

color requirements: gray or black containers for Garbage Container Waste, 

blue containers for Source Separated Recyclable Materials, and green 

containers for Compost Containers. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a 

Commercial Business is not required to replace functional containers, 



including containers purchased prior to January 1, 2022, that do not 

comply with the color requirements of this Section prior to the end of the 

useful life of those containers, or prior to January 1, 2036, whichever 

comes first; or 

(ii) Container labels that include language or graphic images, or both, 

indicating the primary materials accepted and the primary materials 

prohibited in that container, or containers with imprinted text or graphic 

images that indicate the primary materials accepted and primary materials 

prohibited in the container.  The container labeling requirements are 

required on new containers commencing January 1, 2022. 

6-3-109 Commercial Education and Outreach Requirements  

All Commercial Business Owners are required to: 

(a) Excluding Multi-Family Residential Dwellings, to the extent practical through education, 

training, inspection, and/or other measures, prohibit employees from placing materials in a 

container not designated for those materials per the Recycling Container, Compost Container, 

and Garbage Container collection service. 

(b) Excluding Multi-Family Residential Dwellings, periodically inspect Recycling Containers, 

Compost Containers, and Garbage Containers for contamination and inform employees if 

containers are contaminated and of the requirements to keep contaminants out of those 

containers. 

(c) Including Multi-Family Residential Dwellings, annually provide information to employees, 

contractors, tenants, building residents, and customers about Organic Waste Recovery 

requirements and about proper sorting of Organic Waste and Recyclable Materials. A copy of 

such instructions shall be provided to the Municipal Services Director or Designee, upon 

request. 

(d) Including Multi-Family Residential Dwellings, provide information before or within fourteen 

days of new occupation of the Premises to new tenants and no less than fourteen days before 

tenants move out of the Premises, unless a tenant does not provide fourteen or more days’ 

notice before moving out, that describes requirements to keep  Compost Container Organic 

Waste and  Recyclable Materials separate from each other and from Garbage Container Waste, 

as well as the location of containers and the rules governing their use at the Premises. 

(e) Including Multi-Family Residential Dwellings, prominently post and maintain one or more signs 

where Recyclable Materials and/or Organic Waste are collected and/or stored that set forth 

what materials are required to be Source Separated in addition to collection procedures for 

such materials. 

6-3-110 Waivers for Commercial Businesses 

(a) De Minimis Waivers. The Municipal Services Director or Designee may waive a Commercial 

Business’ obligation to comply with some or all of the Organic Waste and Recycling collection 



service requirements of this chapter, if documentation is provided demonstrating that the 

Commercial Business generates below a certain amount of Organic Waste material, (de 

minimis) as described below.  

 A Commercial Business requesting a de minimis waiver shall: 

(1) Submit an application to the Municipal Services Director or Designee specifying the 

service or requirements for which it is requesting a waiver. Applicant must supply all 

required proof of qualifications in writing together with the application submittal. 

Applicants may be required to provide information in forms provided by the City. 

Applicants are subject to one or more site inspection(s) prior to approval of a waiver.  

(2) Provide documentation with the de minimis waiver application that either: 

(i) The Commercial Business’ total Solid Waste collection service is two 

cubic yards or more per week and Organic Waste subject to collection 

in a Recycling Container or Compost Container comprises less than 

20 gallons per week per applicable container of the business’ total 

waste; or, 

(ii) The Commercial Business’ total Solid Waste collection service is less 

than two cubic yards per week and Organic Waste subject to 

collection in a Recycling Container or Compost Container comprises 

less than 10 gallons per week per applicable container of the 

business’ total waste. 

(3) For the purposes of subsections (2) (a) and (b) above, total Solid Waste shall be the 

sum of weekly Garbage Container Waste, Source Separated Recyclable Materials, and 

Source Separated Compost Container Organic Waste measured in cubic yards. 

(4) If the de minimis waiver is granted, notify the Municipal Services Director or Designee 

granting the waiver if circumstances change such that the conditions under which the 

waiver was granted are no longer being met, in which case the waiver will be 

rescinded. 

(5) If the waiver is granted, provide written verification of continued eligibility for de 

minimis waiver to the Municipal Services Director or Designee every 5 years. 

(b) Physical Space Waivers. The Municipal Services Director or Designee may waive a Commercial 

Business’ obligation to comply with some or all of the Organic Waste collection service 

requirements of this chapter if the Municipal Services Director or Designee has evidence from 

a licensed contractor, licensed architect, licensed engineer, or other person authorized by the 

Municipal  Services Director or Designee demonstrating that the Premises lacks adequate 

space for the collection containers required for compliance with the Organic Waste collection 

service requirements set forth in this chapter. 

A Commercial Business requesting a physical space waiver shall:  



(1) Submit an application to Municipal Services Director or Designee specifying the service 

or requirements for which it is requesting a waiver. 

(2) Provide documentation with the application for a physical space waiver that the 

Premises lacks adequate space for Recycling Containers and/or Compost Containers, 

which shall include documentation from its licensed contractor, licensed architect, 

licensed engineer, or other person authorized by the Designee.  

(3) If the waiver is granted, Commercial Business shall notify the Municipal Services 

Director or Designee granting the waiver if the Commercial Business’ physical space 

configurations or amounts of Solid Waste generation change, in which case the waiver 

may be rescinded. 

(4) If the waiver is granted, Commercial Business  shall provide written verification to the 

Municipal Services Director or Designee of continued eligibility for a physical space 

waiver every five (5) years. 

(c) Change of ownership of a Premises automatically revokes a waiver and the new owner must 

comply with this chapter or obtain its own waiver. 

(d) Upon the determination of the Municipal Services Director or Designee, a written notification 

of the approval or denial of a waiver shall be issued to the applicant. 

6-3-111 Increased service requirements. 

(a) If more than three (3) instances of contamination occur during a twelve (12) month 

period in the Recycling Container, Compost Container, or Garbage Container, the service 

will automatically be upgraded to the next larger level of service needed for that type of 

material. 

 

(b) If contamination continues when the customer is at the largest Garbage Container, 

Compost Container, and Recycling Container service level, the cart contamination fee will 

be enforced for each occurrence of contamination. 

 

(c) Habitual contaminators may be subject to provisions of TMC 1-2-101  

6-3-112 Collection and disposal: Maintenance of service. 

The City through its franchised collector shall maintain or provide for Organic Waste collection 

service, including garbage container, recyclable materials container and organics container 

collection, which, at intervals no less than four (4) times per month, shall remove and dispose of 

all such containerized materials from every lot, parcel, or plot of land upon which a residence, 

dwelling house, duplex, or residential unit exists, excepting, however, any parcel of land which is 

covered by buildings to the extent that no more than five hundred (500) square feet of lot area 

remains. 



6-3-113 Unlawful accumulations and disposal. 

It shall be unlawful for any person in possession of, or having charge or control of, any Single-

Family dwelling or Commercial Business within the City to keep or deposit any Garbage, 

Recyclable Materials, or Organic Waste on any premises in the City except in containers as 

described in section 6-3-104. It shall be unlawful for such person to bury or burn any waste or to 

keep or deposit any rubbish on any premises in the City for a longer time than may be 

reasonably necessary for the purposes of destruction or burial or collection and removal by the 

contractor holding a valid contract with the City for the collection and disposal of such  waste, 

and no such person shall throw or deposit any waste on any alley, public place, sidewalk, street, 

or waterway other than in such containers. Grass cuttings, trees, shrubbery, and lawn trimmings 

may be deposited on such premises as set forth in this article. 

No person shall dump, place, or bury in any lot, land, street, alley, water, waterway, or elsewhere 

within the City any waste, manure, or waste matter condemned by the Health Department or its 

authorized representatives. 

6-3-114 Unlawful accumulations and disposal: Buildings under construction. 

No person owning or occupying any building, lot, or premises in the City shall permit to collect 

and remain upon such lot or premises Garbage, Recyclable Materials, Organic Waste or 

industrial waste of any kind; provided, however, the provisions of this section shall not be 

construed as interfering with buildings under construction. 

6-3-115 Waste containers: Removal. 

It shall be unlawful to allow to stand or remain in any street or any place open to the public 

view, except an alley, any type of container for Garbage, Recyclable Materials, or Organic Waste 

or industrial refuse for a period exceeding twenty-four (24) consecutive hours. The provisions of 

this section shall apply only to the persons described in section 6-3-107. 

6-3-116 Unauthorized collection and disposal. 

At such times as, there is in force a contract entered into by the City with any person for the 

collection and disposal of Garbage, Recyclable Materials, or Organic Waste in the City, it shall be 

unlawful for any person, other than the contractor or a person in the employ of such contractor, 

to collect these materials within the City or to remove or carry these materials through any 

public street or alley of the City for compensation or hire. 

6-3-117 Ownership of recyclable materials. 

Recyclable waste material shall become the property of the authorized recycling contractor 

upon placement of recyclable waste material at a designated recycling collection location for 

collection by an authorized recycling contractor. 



6-3-118 Collection and disposal: Vehicles. 

It shall be unlawful for any person to move or carry through any public street or alley of the City 

any solid waste or industrial refuse, except in vehicles having metallic or metal-lined beds, and 

the solid waste shall be so loaded that none of it shall fall, drop, or spill upon the ground. Every 

vehicle used in the work of collecting and disposing of waste shall be kept clean. Trucks carrying 

solid waste through the streets shall be covered with a tarpaulin or other suitable covering to 

prevent waste spilling on the street. 

6-3-119 Collection and disposal: Contracts or licenses required. 

(a) The collection, removal, and disposal of all Garbage, Recyclable Materials, and Organic 

Waste and industrial refuse may be performed by the City or by a person or persons 

pursuant to a franchise contract or license with the City, and no other person shall 

engage in such business unless a franchise contract or license is issued to do so by the 

City Council. 

 

(b) Any franchise contract or license, whether partially or wholly exclusive or nonexclusive, 

may be awarded with or without competitive bidding and shall be done in such a 

manner as to insure broad and equitable participation by potential contractors or 

franchisees; and shall consider the credentials, reputation and practices of the franchise 

contractor or licensee. 

 

(c) Any franchise contract or license awarded by the City may be for a period not to exceed 

fifty (50) years with three (3) fifteen (15) year or five (5) ten (10) year interval quality 

review and renewal periods. 

 

(d) At the expiration of any contract or license issued pursuant to subsection (c) of this 

section, then based upon California Public Resources Code Section 40059 the City 

Council may renew the franchise contract or license to the same franchise contractor or 

licensee if the City Council finds and declares that the credentials, reputation, and 

practices of the franchise contractor or licensee are in the interest of the public health, 

safety, and general welfare. 

 

(e) Any franchise contract or license awarded by the City shall require at least three (3) 

affirmative votes of the City Council. 

 

(f) Any Garbage, Recyclable Materials, or Organic Waste hauler shall be charged fifteen 

(15%) percent of gross receipts on business originating within the City of Turlock. 

6-3-120 Collection and disposal of industrial refuse: Penalties for failure to obtain license. 

(a) Notwithstanding the provisions of TMC 1-2-01, any person who shall collect, 

remove, or dispose of industrial refuse in violation of TMC 6-3-119, or permit the 

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=PRC&sectionNum=40059
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/#!/Turlock01/Turlock012.html#1-2-01


collection, removal, or disposal of industrial refuse under the control of such 

person by an unlicensed industrial refuse hauler shall, for each and every 

violation and noncompliance, be guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by a fine of 

not less than One Hundred and no/100ths ($100.00) Dollars, nor more than One 

Thousand and no/100ths ($1,000.00) Dollars, and/or by imprisonment in the 

County Jail for not more than six (6) months. 

 

(b) Any industrial hauler who collects, removes or disposes of industrial refuse in 

violation of TMC 6-3-119 shall be precluded from obtaining an industrial waste 

hauling license for a period of six (6) months from the date of any such violation, 

nor shall such license be issued until all administrative fees have been paid which 

would have been due had a license been properly requested and issued. 

 

(c) The Chief of Police of the City may impound any industrial refuse container 

placed within the corporate limits of the City by an unlicensed industrial refuse 

hauler for purposes of collecting industrial refuse. The container shall be released 

to its owner upon payment of all administrative fees which would have been due 

had a license been properly requested and issued, and all transportation and 

storage costs and expenses. In the event the container remains unclaimed for a 

period of thirty (30) days after impounding, the Chief of Police, after giving ten 

(10) days’ written notice to the hauler, may sell or otherwise dispose of the 

container to satisfy any unpaid administrative, transportation, and storage fees 

owed to the City. Any amount remaining after such payment to the City shall be 

paid to the owner of the container. 

6-3-121 Collection and disposal contractors: Interference. 

It shall be unlawful for any person to interfere in any manner with the collection, removal, or 

disposal of Garbage, Recyclable Materials, or Organic Waste by the authorized contractor for 

each of these material types 

It shall be unlawful for any person other than an authorized recycling contractor to remove 

recyclable waste material which has been placed at a designated recycling collection location. 

6-3-122 Public nuisance. 

Scavenging is a violation of the provisions of this Chapter and is hereby declared a public 

nuisance. Violations may also be subject to any and all remedies provided for in this Chapter. 

6-3-123 Recycling Container pilfering and/or scavenging restrictions. 

Scavenging or taking any part, or all, of the contents of residential curbside recycling carts that 

are placed out for collection shall not be permitted. Any violation of this section may constitute 



an infraction and shall be punishable by a fine of not more than Two Hundred and Fifty and 

no/100ths ($250.00) Dollars. 

6-3-124 Collection and disposal contractors: Use of City equipment and personnel. 

In the event the removal of Garbage, Recyclable Materials, or Organic Waste is required in 

quantities and at times in excess of the ordinary facilities and abilities of the contractor to 

provide or perform, the right is reserved to make use of City equipment and personnel for such 

purpose and the same shall be provided at a reasonable cost to such contractor. The occupants 

or owners of land or premises shall not be penalized because of the inability to secure adequate 

services from the contractor to comply with the provisions of this article. 

6-3-125 Self-Hauler Requirements 

Commercial businesses are allowed to self-haul.  Residents are required to use the collection 

program for their garbage, organic waste and recyclable materials.  

Commercial Self-Haulers shall:  

(a) Source Separate their Recyclable Materials and Organic Waste generated on-site from 

Solid Waste in a manner consistent with this section, or haul Organic Waste to a High 

Diversion Organic Waste Processing Facility. 

(b) Haul their Source Separated Recyclable Materials to a facility that recovers those 

materials; and haul their Source Separated Organic Waste to a Solid Waste facility, 

operation, activity, or property that processes or recovers Source Separated Organic 

Waste or to a High Diversion Organic Waste Processing Facility. 

(c) Self-Haulers, which are Commercial Businesses including Multi-Family Residential 

Dwellings, shall keep a record of the amount of Organic Waste delivered to each Solid 

Waste facility, operation, activity, or property that processes or recovers Organic Waste 

for a minimum of five (5) years; this record shall be subject to inspection by the City.    

(1) The records shall include the following information: 

(i) Delivery receipts and weight tickets from the entity accepting the waste. 

(ii) The amount of material in cubic yards or tons transported by the Generator to 

each entity. 

(iii) If the material is transported to an entity that does not have scales on-site or 

employs scales incapable of weighing the Self-Hauler’s vehicle in a manner that 

allows it to determine the weight of materials received, the Self-Hauler is not 

required to record the weight of material but shall keep a record of the entities 

that received the Organic Waste. 



(d) Self-Haulers that are Commercial Businesses including Multi-Family Residential 

Dwellings shall provide these records, upon request, to the Public Works Director or 

Designee. Self-Haulers shall provide the requested information within 60 days. 

(e) Landscapers, who self-haul Organic Waste generated at a customer’s site, must also 

meet the requirements in this section.  

6-3-127 Disputes and complaints. 

In the event of disputes or complaints arising from or concerning the place where Garbage 

Containers, Compost Containers, and Recyclable Materials Containers shall be placed while 

awaiting the removal of such waste or the contents of such containers, or the quantities to be 

removed, or the number of times of removal, the Municipal Services Director shall designate the 

place, the estimated quantity, and the times and manner of removal. 

6-3-128 Unlawful search and entry: Penalty. 

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person except the owner, the City, or their designee, or someone 

with the owner’s consent or law enforcement personnel pursuant to a duly issued search warrant 

or probable cause, to rummage, explore, scavenge, or otherwise search a garbage, organic 

waste, or recyclable materials container. An exception to this is the City or their designee who 

may inspect containers to determine compliance with this Chapter and the law.  

6-3-129 Inspections and Investigations 

(a) The Municipal Services Director or Designee is authorized to conduct any Inspections or 

other investigations as reasonably necessary to further the goals of this chapter, subject 

to applicable laws.  This may include Inspections and investigations, at random or 

otherwise, of any collection container, collection vehicle load, or transfer, processing, or 

disposal facility to confirm compliance with this chapter, subject to applicable laws. This 

section does not allow entry in a private residential dwelling unit for Inspection. For the 

purposes of inspecting Commercial Business containers for compliance, the City’s 

Designee may conduct container Inspections for Prohibited Container Contaminants and 

Commercial Businesses shall accommodate and cooperate. 

(b) A person subject to the requirements of this chapter shall provide or arrange for access 

during all Inspections (with the exception of a private residential dwelling unit) and shall 

cooperate with the Municipal Services Director or Designee during such Inspections and 

investigations. Such Inspections and investigations may include confirmation of proper 

placement of materials in containers, Inspection of Edible Food Recovery activities, review 

of required records, or other verification or Inspection to confirm compliance with any 

other requirement of this chapter. Failure to provide or arrange for access to the Premises 

or access to records for any Inspection or investigation is a violation of this chapter.  

(c) Any records obtained by the Municipal Services Director or Designee during Inspections 

and other reviews shall be subject to the requirements and applicable disclosure 



exemptions of the California Public Records Act as set forth in Government Code Section 

6250 et seq.  

(d) The Municipal Services Director or Designee shall accept written complaints from persons 

regarding an entity that may be potentially non-compliant with this chapter. 

6-3-130 Enforcement Authority 

The City Manager, Municipal Services Director, Enforcement Officer and/or the City Attorney, or 

his or her Designee, shall have the authority to enforce the provisions of this chapter. This 

authority shall be in addition to the authority granted to police officers pursuant to this code. 

6-3-131 Civil action by authorized recycling contractor. 

Nothing in this article shall be deemed to limit the right of an authorized recycling contractor to 

bring a civil action against any person who violates TMC 6-3-111, nor shall a conviction for such 

violation exempt any person from a civil action brought by an authorized recycling contractor. 

6-3-132 Violation and Penalties 

(a) Violation of any provision of this chapter shall constitute an infraction and be subject to 

penalties. The minimum penalty for a first conviction for violating this chapter is a One 

Hundred and no/100ths ($100.00) Dollar fine; for a second conviction within one (1) year, 

the minimum penalty is a Two Hundred and no/100ths ($200.00) Dollar fine; for a third 

or subsequent conviction within one (1) year, the minimum penalty is a Two Hundred 

Fifty and no/100ths ($250.00) Dollar fine. 

(b) Any person that continues in violation of this section shall be guilty of a separate and 

distinct offense for each and every violation, pursuant to TMC 1-2-01. 

(c) Violation of any provision of this chapter may also be deemed a public nuisance and 

enforced as such. 

(d)  If the City Attorney finds and declares that the defendant is a habitual offender of the 

provisions of this article, the City Attorney may elect to prosecute such violation as a 

misdemeanor, which shall be punishable by a fine of not more than Five Hundred and 

no/100ths ($500.00) Dollars or imprisonment in the Stanislaus County jail for not more 

than six (6) months, or both. 

6-3-133 Collections of costs: Injunctions. 

In order to enforce the provisions of this chapter, the City may correct any violation hereof. The 

cost of such correction, including attorney’s fees, may be added to any sewer service charge 

payable by the person violating the chapter of the property upon which the violation occurred, 

and the City shall have such remedies for the collection of such costs as it has for the collection 

of sewer service charges. The City may also petition the Superior Court for the issuance of a 

preliminary or permanent injunction, or both, as may be appropriate, restraining any person 

from the continued violation of the provisions of this chapter. 

https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/#!/Turlock01/Turlock012.html#1-2-01


6-3-134 Civil liabilities and penalties. 

Any person who intentionally or negligently violates any provision of this chapter shall be liable 

civilly to liabilities imposed by the City against which the violation occurs. Such civil liability may 

be in a sum not to exceed Ten Thousand and no/100ths ($10,000) Dollars. The City may petition 

the Superior Court to enforce and recover such sums. In determining such amount, the City shall 

take into consideration all relevant circumstances, including, but not limited to, the extent of 

harm caused by the violation, the nature and persistence of the violation, the length of time over 

which the violation occurs, the corrective action, if any, and the fines and penalties imposed on 

the City by other agencies. 

SECTION 3.  VALIDITY:  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, word, or 
phrase of this ordinance is held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid for any reason, 
such decision shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this ordinance.  The Turlock 
City Council hereby declares that they would have passed this ordinance, and each 
section, subsection, sentence, clause, word, or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact 
that one or more section, subsection, sentence, clause, word, or phrase be declared 
invalid or unconstitutional. 
 
 SECTION 4.  ENACTMENT:  Prior to the expiration of fifteen (15) days from the 

passage and adoption thereof, this ordinance shall be published in a newspaper of 

general circulation printed and published in the County of Stanislaus, State of California, 

together with names of the members of the City Council voting for and against the same. 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of 

Turlock this 11th day of January, 2022, by the following vote: 

 AYES:  
 NOES:  
NOT PARTICIPATING:  
 ABSENT:  
 
Signed and approved this 11th day of January, 2022. 
 
 

 __________________________ 
 Amy Bublak, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 

_____________________________ 
Lisa Schimmelfennig, Deputy City Clerk, 
City of Turlock, County of Stanislaus, 
State of California 



KWeaver
Text Box
8A































KWeaver
Text Box
9A





























































KWeaver
Text Box
9B

















KWeaver
Text Box
10A


	Agenda.pdf (p.1-6)
	3B.pdf (p.7)
	3C.pdf (p.8)
	3D .pdf (p.9)
	6A.pdf (p.10-65)
	6B.pdf (p.66-80)
	6C.pdf (p.81-87)
	6D.pdf (p.88-105)
	6E.pdf (p.106-113)
	6F.pdf (p.114-121)
	6G.pdf (p.122-135)
	6H.pdf (p.136-142)
	7A.pdf (p.143-151)
	7B.pdf (p.152-179)
	8A.pdf (p.180-194)
	9A.pdf (p.195-224)
	9B.pdf (p.225-232)
	10A.pdf (p.233)

